

# PÉCSI TUDOMÁNYEGYETEM UNIVERSITY OF PÉCS

**Doctoral School of Chemistry** 

# Structural characteristics of bacterial endotoxins

PhD thesis

# Annamária Bui

Supervisors: Prof. Dr. Ferenc Kilár Dr. Béla Kocsis

PÉCS, 2012

# **Table of Contents**

1. INTRODUCTION	6
2. LITERATURE REVIEW	7
2.1 BACTERIA AND ENDOTOXINS	7
2.1.1 Bacteria	7
2.1.2 Endotoxins	10
2.2 INVESTIGATION METHODS OF ENDOTOXINS AND THEIR CARBOHYDRATI CONSTITUENTS	E 17
2.3 INSTRUMENTAL METHODS FOR ENDOTOXIN ANALYSIS	18
2.3.1 Capillary Electrophoresis	18
2.3.2 Laser Induced Fluorescence	24
2.3.3 Gas Chromatography – Mass Spectrometry	25
2.3.4 Matrix-Assisted Laser Desorption Ionization-Time of Flight MS	26
3. AIMS	28
4. MATERIALS AND METHODS	29
4.1 MATERIALS	29
4.1.1 Bacterial Endotoxins	29
4.2 METHODS	30
4.2.1 GC-MS Examinations	30
4.2.2 Capillary Electrophoresis	31
4.2.3 MALDI-TOF-MS	32
5. RESULTS	33
5.1 DEVELOPMENT OF THE CE-LIF METHOD FOR THE EXAMINATION OF CARBOHYDRATE COMPONENTS	33
5.2 CARBOHYDRATE CONSTITUENTS AND STRUCTURES OF THE R-TYPE ENDOTOXINS	37
5.2.1 Shigella sonnei 4350	39
5.2.2 Shigella sonnei 562H	41
5.2.3 Shigella sonnei R41	43
5.2.4 Shigella sonnei 4303	46
5.2.5 Comparison of the endotoxins from different Shigella sonnei R-type strains	51
6. DISCUSSION	53
7. CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE PROSPECTS	58
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	61
LIST OF REFERENCES	62
LIST OF PUBLICATIONS	77

# ABBREVIATIONS

2-AP	2-aminopyridine
4-ABN	4-aminobenzonitrile
6-AQ	6-aminoquinoline
AAMC	3-acetylamino-6-aminoacridone
ABA	p-aminobenzoic acid
ABEE	4-aminobenzoic acid ethyl ester
AMAC	2-aminoacridone
ANA	5-aminonaphthalene-2-sulfonate
ANTS	8-aminonaphthalene-1,3,6-trisulfonate
APTS	8-aminopyrene-1,3,6-trisulfonate
C12	dodecanoic acid (lauric acid)
C14	tetradecanoic acid (myristic acid)
С14-ОН	3-hydroxytetradecanoic acid (3-hydroxymyristic acid)
C14unsat	unsaturated myristic acid
CBQCA	3-(4-carboxybenzoyl)-2-quinolinecarboxaldehyde
CE	capillary electrophoresis
CZE	capillary zone electrophoresis
Da	Dalton
DD-Hep	D-glycero-D-mannoheptose
DHB	2,5-dihydroxy benzoic acid
DNS-hydrazine	dansyl-hydrazine
ECD	electron capture detector
EOF	electroosmotic flow
EU	endotoxin unit
FID	flame ionization detector
FMOC-hydrazine	fluorenylmethoxycarbonyl-hydrazine
FPD	flame photometric detector
Fru	fructose
Gal	galactose
GalN	galactosamine
GalNAc	N-acetyl-galactosamine
GC	gas chromatography

Glc	glucose
GlcN	glucosamine
GlcNAc	N-acetyl-glucosamine
Нер	heptose
HPLC	high pressure liquid chromatography
IL	interleukin
Ino	Inositol
IS	internal standard
Kdo	3-deoxy-D-manno-2-octulonic acid
Lac	lactose
LAL	Limulus amoebocyte lysate
LASER	light amplification by stimulated emission of radiation
LD-Hep	L-glycero-D-mannoheptose
LIF	laser induced fluorescence
LPS	lipopolysaccharide
MALDI	matrix-assisted laser desorption ionisation
Man	mannose
Mel	melibiose
MS	mass spectrometry
NaBH <sub>3</sub> CN	sodium cyanoborohydride
NBD-F	4-fluoro-7-nitrobenzo-2-oxa-1,3-diazole
NMP	1-(2-naphthyl)-3-methyl-5-pyrazolone
NMR	nuclear magnetic resonance
OS	oligosaccharide
Р	phosphate
PID	photo-ionization detector
PITC	phenylisothiocyanate
PMP	1-phenyl-3-methyl-5-pyrazolone
PMPMP	l-(p-methoxy)phenyl-3-methyl-5-pyrazolone
S. sonnei	Shigella sonnei
Sach	saccharose
Sta	stachyose
TCD	thermal conductivity detector
THF	tetrahydrofuran

TNF	tumor necrosis factor
TOF	time of flight
TRSE	4-carboxytetramethylrhodamine succinimidyl ester
Xyl	xylose

#### **1. INTRODUCTION**

"Endotoxins possess an intrinsic fascination that is nothing less than fabulous. They seem to have been endowed by Nature with virtues and vices in the exact and glamorous proportions needed to render them irresistible to any investigator who comes to know them"

#### Ivan L. Bennett, Jr., 1964.

Fever, reduction of the blood pressure, shock, inflammation, tissue damage, thrombosis, haemorrhages of the skin and mucous membranes, sepsis, death. These terrible symptoms may result from the harmful effects of bacterial endotoxins. It is therefore easy to see that the early detection and identification of such serious disease-causing bacteria is vital in medicine, where the appropriate treatment depends on the species of bacteria causing the infection.

Therefore it is fully understandable, that during the history of medical sciences the phenomenon of a continuous quest for the most accurate diagnosis can be observed, in the realization of which the technological development has a decisive role. The explosion-like development in the field of analytical science allows us to penetrate deeper into such areas which has been completely out of reach for researchers or could have been examined only with very costly and lengthy experiments. Naturally, the direction of technological development is dictated by the demands of the researchers for cheaper, faster and more accurate procedures. Such an increasingly urgent need is the development of techniques for bacteriological analysis, which are suitable for rapid and accurate identification of human pathogens.

A number of methods, described in the literature, are known to detect the presence of endotoxins, but neither of them can be used as a standard assay. In my thesis the results and experiments for the development of a rapid and reliable capillary electrophoretic method for the characterization of endotoxins (also known as lipopolysaccharides or LPS) along with GC-MS and MALDI-TOF methods will be described.

#### **2. LITERATURE REVIEW**

### 2.1 BACTERIA AND ENDOTOXINS

#### 2.1.1 Bacteria

The existence of microorganisms has been already assumed in the Middle Ages, but the first, who observed them, was the Dutch Anton von Leeuwenhoek in 1676, with the help of a singlelens microscope of his own design [Leeuwenhoek, 1700, 1702]. The name bacterium was applied much later, in 1828 by Christian Gottfried Ehrenberg coming from the Greek origin "bacterion" word, which means "little stick". The identification of the different species of bacteria began at the end of the 19th century, in which the French Louis Pasteur [Pasteur, 1880] and the German Robert Koch [Koch, 1876, 1882, 1884] played a major role.

Bacteria are prokaryotic organisms with relatively simple structure. They can be grouped based on their behaviour against different staining methods. One of the most common procedures is the Gram-staining, developed by the Danish Hans Christian Gram in 1884 [Gram, 1884]. This method separates bacteria into two groups based on the structural characteristics of their cell walls: Gram-negative and Gram-positive (**Figure 1**).



Figure 1. Structure of the a., Gram-positive and b., Gram-negative bacterial cell wall

**Gram-positive** bacteria have a thick, mesh-like cell wall, consisting mainly of peptidoglycan, that surrounds the cytoplasmic membrane. This peptidoglycan layer (formerly known as murein) serves as an exoskeleton and may also contain teichoic and lipoteichoic acids. Examples for

Gram-positive bacteria are the pneumonia-causing *Streptococcus* species, the anthrax-causing *Bacillus anthracis* and the botulism- and tetanus-causing *Clostridium* species, etc.

The **Gram-negative** cell wall is more complex: the peptidoglycan layer is much thinner and an outer membrane can be found on its external surface. This is basically a non-symmetric double phospholipid-layer, whose outer layer is formed by **lipopolysaccharides** (**LPSs**) and proteins. The area between the cytoplasmic and outer membrane is referred to as the periplasmic space, where a number of hydrolases, antibiotic-degrading enzymes, and heavy metal-deactivating materials can be found, and where toxin subunits built together also, indicating its importance. Important representatives of Gram-negative bacteria are the pathogenic *Vibrio*, *Salmonella* and *Shigella* species and *Escherichia coli*, member of the normal human intestinal flora, etc.

The Gram-positive cell wall stains purple with crystal violet dye (because of its thicker peptidoglycan layer), while due to its thin peptidoglycan layer, the Gram-negative bacterial wall stains only with a counter-stain (usually fuchsin or safranin), appearing in the microscope in red [Gram, 1884].

### Shigella genus

The human pathogen *Shigella spp.* are the causative agents of shigellosis or "bacillary dysentery", the invasive infection of the colon. S. dysenteriae type 1, the first Shigella species isolated, was discovered by Kiyoshi Shiga in 1896 [Shiga, 1898]. The genus, first termed Shigella in 1930 [Bergey, 1930], belongs to the Enterobacteriaceae family and are nearly identical genetically to Escherichia coli and are also closely related to Salmonella and Citrobacter spp. [Kampelmacher, 1959; Schneider et al., 2011]. Shigellae are Gram-negative, nonmotile, non-spore forming, rodshaped bacteria that typically do not ferment lactose. There are four serogroups of Shigella [Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2006]: S. dysenteriae (serogroup A; 15 serotypes), S. flexneri (serogroup B; 14 serotypes) [Flexner, 1900], S. boydii (serogroup C; 19 serotypes) [Ewing, 1949], and S. sonnei (serogroup D; 1 serotype) [Sonne, 1915] based on the biochemical and serological differences of the O-specific side chain of the bacteria [Kauffmann, 1954]. The four serogroups differ also in their epidemiology, since S. dysenteriae is primarily associated with epidemics [Ingersoll et al., 2002], while S. flexneri and S. sonnei are implicated in source outbreaks in developing and developed countries, respectively [Hale, 1991]. S. boydii has been associated with source outbreaks in Central and South America, however it is most commonly restricted to the Indian subcontinent [Yang et al., 2005].

The infective dose for *Shigella* is very low: 10 cells of *S. dysenteriae* to 500 cells of *S. sonnei* [Kothary and Babu, 2001]. At-risk populations, e.g., people with decreased immune function, may be more susceptible to infection. Shigellosis is also a high risk in crowded communities, such as day-care centers, prisons or institutions for the mentally retarded [Udeh, 2004]. E.g. in Hungary in 2010, a dysentery outbreak was reported in a home for the disabled, located in Tiszafüred, which was later proven to be a *S. sonnei* infection [Országos Epidemiológiai Központ, 2010]. Due to the low infective dose of *Shigella*, person-to-person transmission is common (the primary way of transmission is the fecal-oral route) and outbreaks follow a seasonal pattern with the largest number of outbreaks in the warm (summer) months [Wachsmuth and Morris, 1989; Taylor et al., 1991]. *Shigella* has been primarily characterized as a waterborne pathogen, however, foodborne outbreaks are also common [Smith, 1987], especially with foods that are subjected to processing or preparation by hand, are exposed to a limited heat treatment, or are served/delivered raw to the consumer [Wu et al., 2000]. Typical symptoms of infection include bloody diarrhea, abdominal pain, fever, and malaise. *Shigella* species causes an estimated 1 million deaths and 165 million cases of diarrhea annually worldwide [Kotloff et al., 1999].

Shigellosis can usually be treated with antibiotics, however some *Shigella* have become resistant to antibiotics and inappropriate use of antibiotics to treat shigellosis can make the organisms more resistant in the future [Ashkenazi et al., 1993; Jain et al., 2005]. Sequelae rarely occur, such as Reiter's syndrome [Lehman, 1977; Good, 1979; Gaston, 2005; Hannu et al., 2005] or haemolytic uremic syndrome (HUS) [Azim et al., 1999; Bennish et al., 2006]. The real solution would be prevention [World Health Organization, 1987], although a licensed vaccine for shigellosis is not currently available (except the *Sonnei* dysentery vaccine, FS vaccine – F2a in China, but data are limited [Li et al., 2006]).

Detection methods for *Shigella* include conventional culture methods [Price, 1976; Dutta et al., 2001; Zhang and Lampel, 2010], immunological methods, and molecular-based methods. Conventional culture of *Shigella* in foods is often problematic due to the lack of appropriate selective media. Immunological methods for *Shigella* have been researched [Donohue-Rolfe et al., 1986], yet there are only few commercially available test kits (Wellcolex; Bactigen) [Feng, 2001]. Molecular microbiological methods such as polymerase chain reaction (PCR) [Islam et al., 1993; Chizhikov et al., 2001], oligonucleotide microarrays [Kakinuma et al., 2003], and repetitive element polymerase chain reaction (rep-PCR) [Navia et al., 1999] have also been developed for the detection and identification of *Shigella spp*.

#### Shigella sonnei

Serogroups A, B, and C are very similar physiologically, while *S. sonnei* can be differentiated from the other serogroups by positive beta-D-galactosidase and ornithine decarboxylase biochemical reactions [Niyogi, 2005]. Contrary to the other *Shigella* species, *S. sonnei* is a late lactose fermenter, since it can ferment lactose, but only after prolonged incubation [Coetzee, 1959].

Since *S. sonnei* has only one serotype, other methods are used for the epidemiological fingerprinting of this strain, such as biotyping [Szturm-Rubinstein, 1968], colicin production [Abbott and Shannon, 1958; Reller, 1971; Horak, 1994], antibiograms [Cruickshank, 1960; Aoki, 1868], resisto-typing [Elek et al., 1973; Morris and Wells, 1974], phage typing [Hammarström, 1949; Mayr-Harting, 1952; Slopek et al., 1973; Drews et al., 2010] or the combinaton of the mentioned methods [Farrant and Tomlinson, 1966; László and Kerekes, 1969; Helgason and Old, 1981; Old et al., 1981; Matsumoto et al., 1998]. Of all the typing methods, bacteriophage typing appears to be the most sensitive, this method was applied also by Kocsis [Kocsis, 1991].

#### 2.1.2 Endotoxins

It is known, that bacteria produce toxins that are responsible for developing various diseases. In 1892, Richard Pfeiffer [Pfeiffer, 1892] – Koch's student – cultured in broth the rod-shaped Gramnegative bacterium *Vibrio cholerae*, and then filtered it through a membrane. He discovered that both the bacterium-free filtrate (because of the previously discovered proteinaceous exotoxins) and the bacteria caught on the membrane are toxic. The toxin, found in the bacterial fraction, is a heat-stable material which is released only when the bacteria disintegrate. He revealed that these toxins are embedded in the outer cell wall of the bacteria, hence comes the designation also: **endotoxins**.

In the 1930s Andre Boivin and Lydia Mesrobeanu tried to extract the endotoxins with trichloroacetic (TCA) extraction [Boivin et al., 1933], but this method did not result in pure extract of endotoxin. A similar result was achieved by Walter T. J. Morgan and Walther F. Goebel, who tried to extract endotoxins with an organic solvent and water [Morgan, 1937; Goebel et al., 1945]. Later, in 1952, Otto Westphal and Otto Lüderitz have developed a phenol-water extraction method, which allowed the extraction of pure, biologically active endotoxin [Westphal and Jann, 1965] this way expanding the range of options for endotoxin tests.

#### <u>Structure</u>

The endotoxins (also known as lipopolysaccharides or LPSs) are heat-stable, resistant to proteolytic enzymes, immunogenic, cannot be converted to toxoids and are produced by Gramnegative bacteria.

The LPSs can be divided into three distinct regions: the lipid A, the R-core and the O-specific chain (Figure 2).

The lipid A part is a hydrophobic structure directed towards the interior of the cell, which is responsible for the toxic biological effect [Watson and Kim, 1963]. Regarding its structure, it is a specific glycophospholipid (usually a bis-phosphorylated disaccharide backbone acylated with fatty acid chains), which is an integral part of the cell wall. It has a conservative structure, all Gram-negative bacterial lipid A parts are similar to each other. It contains two, unusually linked, phosphorylated glucose-amines. The first carbon atom of one of the glucosamines is linked to the sixth carbon atom of the second glucosamine via an oxygen atom in a so-called betaconfiguration. Such configuration has so far not been observed anywhere else than in Gramnegative bacteria [Rietschel and Brade, 1992]. The conformation of the lipid A part effects its biological activity. The more conical is its spatial structure, the more toxic it is, but for the toxicity one aminosugar and four fatty acids are already sufficient. [Brandenburg et al., 1993; Rietschel et al., 1996; Schromm et al., 2000; Seydel et al., 2000b] It is also suggested that when lipid A parts are intercalated into target cell membranes, only lipid A which forms a conical shape can exert a mechanical stress on signaling proteins. LPSs with a lipid A moiety, which assumes a cylindrical shape, will occupy the binding site but will be unable to activate signaling proteins, thus acting as an LPS antagonist [Seydel et al., 2000a, 2001].



Figure 2. The structure of lipopolysaccharides

The **R-core** is an oligosaccharide and can be divided into two subunits: a so-called *"backbone" unit (inner core)* and an *external unit (outer core)*. The inner core has the same composition in all Gram-negative bacteria, containing rarely occuring components (heptose (Hep) and 3-deoxy-D-manno-2-octulonic acid (Kdo)) and is linked to the lipid A part, The outer core is made of up to six hexose components, and is linked to the O-specific side chain.

The outermost element of the LPS structure is the hydrophilic **O-specific chain**, which is built up from 1-40 repeating units (usually consisting of 2-7 sugar components) resulting in diverse composition. The repeating units are unique and characteristic for the bacteria, resulting in a large variety of antigenicity, which is the base of the serological grouping of Gram-negative bacteria. However, because of the inevitably occuring common monosaccharide components in the O-specific chain of LPSs in taxonomically different bacterial species, serological crosslinkages may appear, causing interfrences in the serological identification of disease-causing bacteria.

The presence or absence of the O-specific chains determines the phenotype of the LPS:

- *R*-type, where the O-specific chain is absent, resulting in *rough* surface of the bacterial colonies. Bacterial strains with *R*-type LPSs are non-pathogenic mutant strains;

- *S*-type, where the O-specific chain is present with various length, resulting in *smooth* surface of the bacterial colonies. Bacterial strains with *S*-type LPSs are pathogenic wild-type strains.

Although the lipid A and the core parts are rather conservative structures, both show microheterogeneities. This structural variability is mainly due to differences in the level of acylation of the disaccharide backbone (e.g., tri-, tetra-, penta- or hexa-acylated species) and also to the different types and position of these fatty acids. The heterogeneity can be further increased by other substituents, including monophosphate, phosphoethanolamine, pyrophosphoethanolamine and additional sugar components. The phenomenon of this intrinsic heterogeneity further complicates the structural investigation of bacterial endotoxins.

#### Lipopolysaccharides of Shigella sonnei strains

Based on the LPS structure, we can distinguish between 2 phases, the so-called phase I, which is the *S*-type wild type strain, and the phase II, which is an *R*-type mutant strain, where the virulence plasmid is lost [Rauss et al., 1961; Sansonetti et al., 1980].

The detailed chemical structure of the lipid A part has been investigated [Ługowski and Romanowska, 1974; Bath et al., 1987]; and a structure of a bisphosphorylated  $\beta$ -1,6-linked GlcN disaccharide backbone attached to 3-hydroxy fatty acids: 3-O-(14:0) at the non-reducing GlcN and 3-O-(12:0) at the reducing GlcN was proposed.

The core part of *S. sonnei* LPS has been also studied extensively by different methods [Serény, 1961; Romanowska and Mulczyk, 1968; Kontrohr and Kocsis, 1978; Jansson et al., 1981; Gamian and Romanowska, 1982]. In the proposed structure, the core part of *S. sonnei* phase II LPS is formed by a branched structure according to **Figure 3.** The structure of *S. sonnei* phase I LPS is similar, except an additional GlcN [Gamian and Romanowska, 1982].



**Figure 3.** Proposed structure of the core part of *S. sonnei* LPS phase II (D-Gal – D-galactose, D-Glc – D-glucose, LD-Hep – L-glycero-D-mannoheptose, Kdo – 3-deoxy-D-manno-2-octulonic acid, P-PetN – pyrophosphoethanolamine) [Gamian and Romanowska, 1982]

The repeating unit of the O-specific chain in *S. sonnei* phase I LPS consists of 2 uncommon monosaccharides, namely an  $\alpha$ -linked 2-acetamido-2-deoxy-L-altruronic acid and a  $\beta$ -linked 2-acetamido-4-amino-2,4,6-trideoxy-D-galactose (**Figure 4**) [Romanowksa and Reinhold, 1973; Kontrohr, 1977; Kenne et al., 1980].

Structural variety of the core [Gamian and Romanowska, 1982] and the lipid A part of *S. sonnei* LPSs has been investigated, however, with contradictory conclusions about the presence of ethanolamine and the level of phosphorylation [Ługowski and Romanowska, 1974; Bath et al., 1984]. Similarly to Bath et al. [Bath et al., 1984], in our experiments, no ethanolamine linkages were found in the *S. sonnei* lipid A structures [Kilár et al., 2011].



Figure 4. The repeating unit of the O-specific polysaccharide of S. sonnei phase I [Batta et al., 1998]

*S. sonnei* bacterial strains have been examined for a long time in the Department of Medical Microbiology and Immunology, Faculty of Medicine, University of Pécs. Further *R* mutants can be derived from *S. sonnei* phase II with induced mutation. The subjects of this thesis, the "*R*" type strains have also been cultured in this laboratory. The original strain, the "*S*"-type *S. sonnei* phase I was isolated in the Department of Medical Microbiology and Immunology, Faculty of Medicine, University of Pécs [Rauss, 1961], and later the spontaneous mutation of this strain resulted in the *S. sonnei* 4303 (phase II) "*R*" mutant, which completely lacks the O-side chain. For the enhancement of further mutations, the *S. sonnei* 4303 strain was submitted to ethyl-methyl-sulfonate treatment (EMS) [Osborn, 1966], resulting in an "*R*"-mutant series, namely *S. sonnei R41, 562H* and 4350. These mutant bacterial strains have been classified based on their corespecific phage-sensitivity [Kontrohr and Kocsis, 1981].

### **Bioactivity of endotoxins**

The bioactivity of endotoxins is diverse and dose-dependent. They elicit the immune response only after having been released from the surface of the bacteria, which can happen during shedding, proliferation or degradation of Gram-negative bacteria. The toxicity of LPS is associated with the lipid A part. However, most of the toxicity is brought about by mediators, instead of the LPSs directly destroying the host cells and tissues.

LPSs, released into the bloodstream, first bind to the LPS-binding protein (LBP), then this LPS-LBP complex is transferred to CD14 on the surface of monocytes and macrophages and to tolllike receptor-4 (TLR4) on the surface of macrophages and endothelial cells, this way activating multiple processes [Thomas et al., 2002]. The activated macrophages induce the production of cytokines (eg IL-1, IL-6, IL-8, TNF- $\alpha$ , IFN- $\gamma$ , etc.), prostaglandine and leukotriene, which are powerful inflammation- and septic shock-causing mediators, and are required for the adaptive immune reponse.

The release of large amounts of endotoxin into the blood stream induces endotoxaemia, causing a wide variety of symptomps such as chills, fever, septic shock, circulatory failure and even death. The characteristics of endotoxic shock are hypotension, disturbances of organ functions, metabolic acidosis, thrombocytolysis and disseminated intravascular coagulation (DIC). During pregnacy, the increased secretion of opioid peptides may cause decidual hemorrhage, premature birth or abortion.

Endotoxaemia and sepsis are the leading cause of death in non cardiac surgery procedures even today. The mortality rate of the patients with severe sepsis is 35-45% [Eisele et al., 1998].

However, endotoxins may have positive effects for the organism, when small amounts of endotoxins are released from the Gram-negative bacteria, normally living in the intestinal flora of mammals. These beneficial effects are e.g., increase in the body's resistance to infection, combat against bacterial or viral infections and tumor necrosis.

#### Endotoxin assays

The detection of endotoxins is in the interest of both healthcare and pharmaceutical industry. It is an important requirement for the application of injectable substances (drugs, infusions, etc), surgical instruments, dialysis tubes, etc. to not only be sterile, i.e. free from living microorganisms, but also to be endotoxin-free. Because of the potentially occurring severe immune response, endotoxin levels in pharmaceutical products and medical devices are strictly regulated, with allowable maxima of 5 EU/kg/h for most drug products and 0.2 EU/kg/h for intrathecally administered drugs [U.S. Food and Drug Administration, 1987; United States Pharmacopeia 30 - National Formulary 25, 2007; Pennamareddy et al., 2010]. (The endotoxin unit (EU) describes the biological activity of LPS, and 1 EU refers to 100 pg of endotoxin [Daneshian et al., 2006].)

There are several methods known for the detection of endotoxins, among which also less and highly sensitive methods can be found, however, since the withdrawal of the LAL-assay in summer 2011, no standard assay exists for endotoxin detection, that could be generally used worldwide.

#### Thiobarbituric acid -assay

This method is based on the detection of the keto-group of the Kdo by photometrical means [Aminoff, 1961; Brade et al., 1983; Mamat et al., 2009], which is a typical octose in endotoxins. However, this method is quite rough, as it is not specific for Kdo, and since Kdo has been already found in some higher plants and green algae [York et al., 1985; Delmas et al., 2008], this method is not 100% endotoxin-specific.

#### Rabbit Pyrogen Test

In the so-called "rabbit-assay" (RPT) [United States Pharmacopeial Convention, 1980] the presence of endotoxins is detected by measuring the changes in body temperature resulting from the injection of the test solution to the ear-vein of rabbits kept at indifferent temperature for 2 weeks under stress-free circumstances. If the rabbit shows a febrile reaction, the sample contains endotoxin. Disadvantages of this method are that it is time consuming, not quantitative and it is also questionable from financial and ethical point of view. [Nakagawa et al., 2002]

#### Rat-assay

The veterinarian Lóránd Bertók has developed a method for endotoxin detection which can be performed in rats [Selye et al., 1966]. Because of their lifestyle, rats are very resistant animals, but Bertók discovered that in case of lead-acetate treatment their immune system weakens, this way they become 100.000 times more sensitive to endotoxins. However, this method is not widespread, because of the appearance of the LAL-assay.

#### Limulus Amoebocyte Lysate-assay

The horseshoe crab (*Limulus polyphemus*) is a peculiar marine organism, which lives in warm, shallow coastal waters and occurs in the highest number at the east coast of the US and at the south-east coast of Asia. It has an open circulatory system, therefore it had to develope an eaxtraordinarily effective system of defense against pathogens entering through the fissures of it's shell. The oval-shaped haemolymph cells, which are organized in small granules (amoebocytes), are an integral part of the defensive system, and they contain coagulation factors (coagulants), which are released to its' surroundings in case of an encounter with bacteria. These coagulants react with the LPS and quickly coagulate the surrounding fluid, this way entrapping the entering bacteria.

The so-called LAL-assay (*Limulus* Amoebocyte Lysate) is based on this property of the horseshoe crabs, where the LAL-reagent is extracted from the haemolymph of the horseshoe crabs. [Levin et al., 1970; Jorgensen and Smith, 1973] Animals, released back to the ocean 24 hours after the haemolymph collection, recover totally.

The haemolymph is a mixture of the liquid serum and the suspended amoebocytes. The two phase can be separated from each other by centrifugation, then the haemolymph cells can be obtained by collecting and washing the pellet. The resuspended haemolymph cells absorb water due to the osmotic effect; this way the coagulant goes into solution after cell explosion. After filtration of the solution and removal of the cell debris, the resulting substance is dried at -80°C. The obtained white powder is the LAL-reagent.

While reacting with the endotoxin, the LAL-reagent triggers massive gel-formation, increased viscosity and opalization. The process itself takes place cascade-likely, and due to this, the sensitivity of the method is very high, scaling up to picogram quantity of endotoxin. Further advantages of the method are, that it is not time-consuming and it is test animal-friendly. A disadvantage is, however, that it requires a very careful preparation and careful sample preparation, not to disturb the evaluability of the results with contaminating endotoxin and other interfering agents, since other pyrogens may react also with the LAL-reagent [Dobrovolskaia et

al., 2010; Perdomo-Morales et al., 2011]. However, the FDA withdrew the LAL-assay on 22 June 2011, after it was declared obsolete and does not reflect the Agency's current thinking on the topic.

#### Human whole blood test

The human whole blood IL-1 test exploits the reaction of monocytes/macrophages for the detection of pyrogens: human whole blood taken from healthy volunteers is incubated in the presence of the test sample. Pyrogenic contaminations initiate the release of the "endogenous pyrogen" IL-1ß determined by enzyme linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) after incubation [Hartung and Wendel, 1996]. This method was internationally validated by the European Centre for the Validation of Alternative Methods (ECVAM) [Hoffmann et al., 2005]. It is less expensive and more sensitive than the RPT and has the additional advantage of being able to examine the reaction strength directly in human material. Unlike the LAL, this test can detect not only endotoxins, but also other pyrogens in the human whole blood test (WBT) can be affected by the donor of the blood sample [Schindler et al., 2007].

# Endotoxin Activity Assay

The Endotoxin Activity Assay (EAA) is a chemiluminescent method for endotoxin detection from whole blood samples. The lipid A part binds to a specific antibody, then this complex is endocytosed by neutrophil blood cells treated with zymosan. This neutrophil granulocyte goes through various intracellular reactions resulting in the emission of oxy-radicals which activate a lumiphore reagent. The amount of emitted light can be measured with a chemiluminometer and the obtained result is proportional to the antigen-antibody ratio in the patient. [Romaschin et al., 1998a, 1998b; Foster et al., 2004a, 2004b; Marshall et al., 2002; Ikeda et al., 2010].

# **2.2 INVESTIGATION METHODS OF ENDOTOXINS AND THEIR CARBOHYDRATE CONSTITUENTS**

The structural analysis of endotoxins usually begins with a hydrolyzing step, to extract its components, namely fatty acids and carbohydrates.

Carbohydrates are such polyhydroxylated aldehyde- or ketone-compounds, which have very diverse roles, therefore, their examination has a high priority. However, the analysis of oligo- and polysaccharides can be a difficult task, due to the variety of carbohydrate structures. Several techniques are used to examine carbohydrates, from nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy (NMR) [Linnerborg et al., 1999; Larocque et al., 2003] and mass spectrometry (MS) [Li et al.,

1998; Olsthoorn et al., 1999; Larocque et al., 2003], through gas-chromatography (GC) [Kocsis and Kontrohr, 1984; Bui et al., 2011], to capillary electrophoresis (CE) [Kojima et al., 2009; Bui et al., 2011]. To achieve structural information about carbohydrates, the use of NMR or MS is essential, however, these techniques possess a number of limiting factors, which requires the application of other chromatographic or electrophoretic methods. Due to their hydrophilic nature, water-based separation techniques (such as TLC [Caroff and Karibian, 1990], HPLC [Kojima et al; 2009], PAGE [Karataeva et al., 2006], CE) are highly suitable for the examination of carbohydrates.

When it comes to the structural analysis of intact LPSs, TLC [Caroff and Karibian, 1990], gel electrophoresis [Tsai and Frasch, 1982; Fomsgaard et al., 1990; Pupo et al. 2004], NMR [Strain et al., 1983] and mass spectrometric methods (e.g., ESI [Dzieciatkowska et al., 2008] and MALDI [Linnerborg et al., 1999; Kilár et al., 2011]) have to be mentioned. However, PAGE is a laborous technique and not resolutive enough, NMR requires large amounts of purified material and mass spectrometric techniques do not give information about anomeric configuration of the sample. Therefore, to obtain the most accurate results, a combination of the mentioned techniques should be applied.

#### 2.3 INSTRUMENTAL METHODS FOR ENDOTOXIN ANALYSIS

#### 2.3.1 Capillary Electrophoresis

Capillary electrophoresis (CE) is a rapidly developing analytical separation method, which combines the techniques of classical electrophoresis with the instrumentation options of modern detection and automation. The first experiments based on the electrophoretic principle were carried out by Reuss who studied the migration of colloidal clay-particles [Reuss, 1809], however the theoretical aspects were only formulated by Kohlrausch almost a century later [Kohlrausch, 1897]. The potential of electrophoresis as an analytical tool was not realized until the development of free *moving boundary electrophoresis* (MBE) [Tiselius, 1930]. Tiselius performed his experiments in a U-shaped tank in which the dissolved proteins formed boundaries based on their electrophoretic migration. To avoid the disadvantages of moving boundary electrophoresis (thermal diffusion and convection) other methods evolved, using paper, agarose, cellulose or polyacryalamide gels as stabilizers. Although these stabilizers minimized the problem of convention, other unwanted phenomena occured, such as time-consuming and laborous sample preparation, long analysis time and unwanted interactions negatively effecting the separation. Therefore many attempts arose to set up a free zone electrophoresis avoiding convection. Hjertén

described the free zone electrophoresis in solution, applying a 3 mm diameter narrow bore tube for the separation. He also realized, that by rotating the tube along its longitudinal axis, convection effect could be minimized (**Figure 5**) [Hjertén, 1958, 1967]. In spite of the pioneering work by Hjertén, CE remained relatively unknown until the first "real" capillary, which was used by Jorgenson and Lukacs and had a diameter of 75  $\mu$ m [Jorgenson and Lukacs, 1981, 1983].



Figure 5. Hjertén's first electrophoretic system (1958)

Since then, due to the significant development of the applicable detection methods and to the increase in the efficiency of capillary electrophoretic techniques, CE became a powerful analytical tool opening new opportunities for researchers to understand fundamental aspects in many field of science, such as pharmaceutical, forensics, clinical or biochemical analysis and so on.

# Classification of CE methods



Figure 6. Schematic structure of a capillary electrophoretic system

In fact, CE is a family encompassing related separation techniques, where the separation of a wide range of large and small molecules takes place in a narrow-bore fused silica capillary. High electric field strengths are used to separate the molecules based on their differences in charge, size and hydrophobicity. The sample injection can be performed by the application of pressure, vacuum or voltage, after immersing the end of the capillary into the sample vial. A schematic structure of a CE system is shown in **Figure 6**. The technology of CE can be divided into several separation techniques, such as:

**Capillary Zone Electrophoresis (CZE)** [Jorgenson and Lukacs, 1981, 1983], which is the simplest form of CE. The separation takes place in a buffer filled capillary and is based on the differences in the mass-to-charge ratio of the analytes. Although anions migrate towards the anode and cations migrate towards the cathode, both can be separated in the same run, due to the EOF in uncoated capillary. Actually, this is the most frequently used CE method, since it has a high separation efficiency, fast, requires low amount of sample and allows the examination of a wide range of samples, including inorganic compounds [Warren and Adams, 2004], carbohydrates [Oefner, 1992; Sjöberg et al., 2004], amino acids [Swann et al., 2010], peptides [Kubalczyk and Bald, 2009], vitamins [Liu et al., 2009; Yang et al., 2010], proteins [Erny et al., 2007], nucleic acids [Sang and Ren, 2006; Li et al., 2008], viruses [Okun et al., 1999; Liang and Schneider, 2009], bacteria [Szeliga et al., 2011], etc.

**Capillary Gel Electrophoresis (CGE)** [Hjertén et al., 1987a], which is traditional gel electrophoresis performed in a capillary, using polymer-solutions or cross-linked gels. They minimize the causes of zone broadening, such as convection, diffusion and solute adsorption to the capillary wall, and they help to decrease EOF. The separation of analytes with similar mass-to-charge ratio is based on their differences in size. This method is widespread in the electrophoresis of proteins [Yu et al., 2008] and in DNA-sequencing [Gao et al., 2011].

**Capillary Isoelectric Focusing (CIEF)** [Hjertén et al., 1987b], is one of the separation techniques with the highest resolution power. A pH-gradient, generated between the anode and the cathode, allows the electrophoretic separation of amphoteric molecules. The analyte in solution migrates until its net charge is zero. This point is called isoelectric point (pI), where the solute stops and focuses into a tight zone. The zone can be mobilized past the detector either by EOF (,,single-step" IEF) or – in the absence of EOF - by pressure or chemical means (,,two-step" IEF). This method is particularly suited to protein separation [Wei et al., 2011].

**Isotachophoresis (ITP)** [Everaerts and Verheggen, 1970; Johansson et al., 1987], is the oldest CE method. The solutes form distinct zones according to their electrophoretic mobility, between a

leading and a terminating electrolyte, and after separation they migrate with the same speed towards the detector. This method is useful for sample concentration in CZE runs.

**Micellar Electrokinetic Capillary Chromatography (MECC or MEKC)** [Terabe et al., 1984], where micelle-forming surfactants (e.g. sodium-dodecylsulfate, SDS) are added to the buffer solution in a concentration above the critical micellar concentration (CMC). The separation is based on the differential partition between the micellear phase and the background electrolyte, which is related to the hydrophobicity of the solutes. This method can be used in the case of both charged and neutral samples. MEKC was successfully applied for the separation of small molecules.

**Capillary Electrochromatography** (**CEC**) [Knox and Grant, 1987], which is a chromatographic separation technique combining the high separation efficiency of CZE with the outstanding selectivity of HPLC. The capillary is filled with a stationary phase, but the mobile phase is moved by the EOF instead of pressure. Since the backpressure is minimal, it is possible to use columns with small diameter, which allows high efficiency. The separation is based on the interactions between the migrating solutes and the stationary phase. Because the nature of the applied stationary phase can be various, a wide range of samples can be analyzed with this technique.

#### Theoretical background

The electrophoretic migration of ions is based on the movement of the sample components with different mass/charge ratio with different speed in the applied electric field. The electrophoretic mobility ( $\mu$ ) – which depends on the charge-to-mass ratio of the analyte and the viscosity of the medium, – is specific to the given component and can be calculated based on the following correlation:

$$\mu_i = \frac{z_i \cdot e}{6 \cdot \pi \cdot \eta \cdot r_i},$$

where  $z_i$ : is the charge of the *i* analyte; *e*: is the elementary charge;  $\eta$ : is the viscosity of the buffer and  $r_i$ : is the radius of the solvated ion.

Based on the previous equation, it is rather difficult to calculate the electrophoretic mobility of the given components, however based on an electropherogram it can be easily determined using the following equation:

$$\mu_i = \frac{\nu_i}{E} = \frac{L_{eff} \cdot L_t}{t_i \cdot U},$$

where  $\mu_i$ : is the electrophoretic mobility of component i,  $v_i$ : is the electrophoretic speed of component i, *E*: is the electric field strength,  $L_{eff}$ : is the effective length of the capillary,  $L_i$ : is the total length of the capillary,  $t_i$ : is the migration time of component i and *U*: is voltage.

#### **Electroosmosis**

Electroosmosis (electroendosmosis) is one of the oldest described electrokinetic phenomena occuring in all electrophoretic method, which can be defined as the emerging flow of the liquid along with a charged surface due to the electric field. This flow is called electroosmotic flow (EOF). This phenomenon occurs in every case when voltage is applied to a liquid in contact with a charged surface. The flow generated by electroosmosis shows a plug-like profile.

The cause of the flow of the electrolyte solution lies in the properties of the surface of the capillary, which can be described by Stern's double layer modell. In Stern's modell to the ions closest to the solid surface Helmholtz's rigid single layer arrangement, while to the more distant ions Gouy-Chapman's or Debye-Hückel's diffuse arrangement is valid. The electric potential between the surface of the capillary and the electrolyte solution decreases lineary in the rigid double layer, while exponentially in the diffuse double layer (zeta potential) moving away from the surface.

The speed of EOF is proportional to the applied electric field strength. The electroosmotic mobility depends on the zeta-potential, the permettivity of the medium and the viscosity of the solution:

$$\mu_{EOF} = \frac{\varepsilon_0 \varepsilon_r \zeta}{\eta}$$

where  $\varepsilon_0$ : is the dielectric constant of the vacuum;  $\varepsilon_r$ : is the dielectric constant of the buffer and  $\zeta$ : is the zeta potential. Since the zeta-potential depends on the pH and the ionic strength of the solution, the  $\mu_{EOF}$  depends also on these same factors.

#### Technical aspects of capillary electrophoresis

The goal during separation is that the substances meant to be detected should migrate with different velocities to the detector focused into a tight zone. In capillary electrophoresis these sample zones may broaden or distort due to varying reasons. The effect of these zone-broadening factors is cumulative. The effects leading to zone-broadening (dispersion) can be the followings: longitudinal diffusion, volume overload (too long injection), adsorption of the analyte to the

capillary wall, material overload (too high sample concentration), thermal effects and differences in the mobility of the buffer and the sample particles (electrodispersion).

The goal is to minimize the effect of these factors.

Concerning detection, the separation of samples can be monitored by almost any detection method in capillary electrophoresis experiments. A summary of the main detection methods are included in **Table 1**.

Method	Detectable amounts (mol)
UV/VIS	10 <sup>-13</sup> -10 <sup>-16</sup>
Fluorescence	10 <sup>-15</sup> -10 <sup>-17</sup>
Laser induced fluorescence (LIF)	$10^{-18} - 10^{-20}$
Amperometry	$10^{-18} - 10^{-19}$
Conductometry	10 <sup>-15</sup> -10 <sup>-16</sup>
Mass spectrometry (MS)	10 <sup>-16</sup> -10 <sup>-17</sup>
Indirect methods	10-100x less, than in case of direct
	methods

 Table 1. Detection methods

From technical point of view, CE has a number of advantages compared to other separation techniques, since it has a higher separation efficiency, has a shorter analysis time, requires less sample ( $\mu$ l scale) and also requires considerably less chemicals and solvents. However, we cannot conclude that CE would be the limitation-free solution for the examination of carbohydrates, since – with a very few exceptions – carbohydrates are not charged molecules, which is a basic requirement for electrophoretic separation, and their detection is also complicated, due to the fact, that themselves are not light-absorbent and do not fluorescence. [El Rassi, 1996]

A number of efforts are aimed to make carbohydrates suitable to CE experiments. These include, e.g., the formation of chargeable borate-complexes [Lamb et al., 2005; Pospísilová et al., 2007; Chen et al., 2009], ionization at extreme high pH [Rovio et al., 2007; Chen et al., 2010; Sarazin et al., 2011], the use of labeling molecules (See Chapter 2.3) or the indirect detection of carbohydrates without derivatization [Oefner et al., 1992; Ruiz-Calero et al., 2000; Vaher et al., 2011].

#### 2.3.2 Laser Induced Fluorescence

The theoretical background for stimulated emission was established by introducing the first rules for a quantum theory of electromagnetic radiation [Einstein, 1916a, 1916b, 1917], however it took more than 30 years to apply the theory in practice. In the 1950's the fundamental work of Townes, Schawlow, Basov and Prokhorov led to the construction of lasers, when they founded the theory of lasers and described how a laser could be built [Gordon et al., 1954; Basov and Prokhorov, 1954; Schawlow and Townes, 1958]. The word **LASER** stands for Light Amplification by Stimulated Emission of Radiation and was introduced by Gordon Gould in 1957 [Gould, 1959; Taylor, 2000]. Despite their efforts, the first functioning laser was a ruby crystal laser built by Maiman in 1960 [Maiman, 1960].

Numerous applications have been found in many different fields such as science, medicine, entertainment, electronics, industry, military. In science, lasers can be used in the characterization of substances by laser induced fluorescence (LIF) spectroscopy, in many different areas, varying from chemistry [Warren, 2008; Laville et al., 2009] to DNA and genetic analysis [Ren et al., 2002; Wang et al., 2008], and even environmental quality assessment and monitoring [Pascu et al., 2001; González-Pérez et al., 2007].

LIF is the technique in which atoms, molecules and ions are excited from low-lying energy levels to higher levels, and the resulting fluorescence observed when they decay back to the lower levels. The principle of LIF is based on fluorescence, which is the result of a three-stage process that occurs in certain molecules, called fluorophores or fluorescent dyes.

A LIF device can serve as a detector coupled to analytical devices, such as CE or HPLC. The principle of detection is based on a collinear optical setup [Couderc et al., 1997], where the laser beam is focused to the capillary by a ball lens after being reflected by a dichroic mirror, which allows to pass only certain wavelengths. Afterward, the emitted fluorescence by the sample is collected by the lens and after passing the dichroic mirror and a series of spatial and spectral filters it is amplified by a photomultiplier tube (PMT) and the electrical signal is recorded. Depending on the needs of a certain experiment, different excitation wavelengths are available from 266 to 780 nm, based on the applied lasers and filters.

From technical point of view, fluorescence emission is essential for LIF detection, which is the most frequently applied detection method in CE experiments. Native fluorescence is associated with certain fluorophore molecules, such as aromatic amino acids, NADH, flavins, pyridoxal derivatives, chlorophylls and so on. However, if a molecule – such as carbohydrates – does not possess a fluorophore group by nature, it can be derivatized by a specific fluorescent dye. Several

dyes are known for carbohydrate-labeling with different tagging reactions [Suzuki and Honda, 2001], such as (1) reductive amination with ABEE [Sjöberg et al., 2004], 4-ABN [Schwaiger et al., 1994], ANA [Stefansson and Novotny, 1994], ANTS [Klockow et al., 1995; Huang, 2008], 2-AP [Takegawa et al., 2006], AMAC [Babu and Kuberan, 2010], 6-AQ [Zhang et al., 2001] APTS [Khandurina and Guttman, 2005; Bui et al., 2008, 2011], ABA [Cortacero-Ramírez et al., 2004] or AAMC [Charlwood et al., 2000], etc.;(2) formation of hydrazones with DNS- [Perez and Colón, 1996] or FMOC-hydrazine [Zhang et al., 1991], (3) reductive amination followed by condensation with CBQCA [Lamari et al., 2003], NBD-F [Tseng et al., 2009], PITC [Spiro and Spiro, 1992] or TRSE [Zhao et al., 1994] or (4) condensation with pyrazolone (PMP [McRae and Monreal, 2011], PMPMP [Kakehi et al., 1991] or NMP [Sun et al., 2010]).

In the derivatization procedure one molecule of fluorophore is attached to each molecule of saccharide. In case of reductive amination, the primary amine group of APTS reacts in a condensation reaction with the aldehyde or ketone group of the saccharide, resulting in an unstable Schiff-base, which is reduced with a reducing agent, to yield a secondary amine. (**Figure 7**)



Figure 7. Derivatization of D-glucose with APTS

#### 2.3.3 Gas Chromatography – Mass Spectrometry

In gas chromatographic experiments, the sample evaporates after (split or splitless) injection, and components are adsorbed on the stationary phase of the column and eluted with different rates by the mobile phase (an inert gas, usually argon, helium, hydrogen or nitrogen), depending on the various chemical and physical properties of the sample compounds and their partitioning behavior. Since capillary columns (inner diameter is 0.1-0.53 mm, film thickness 0.1-10 µm, length 10-100 m) have become much more widespread recently, it is important to use a high sensitivity detector for the detection of sample compounds, emerging with different retention times at the end of the column. Among the numerous gas chromatographic detectors (TCD, FID, ECD, FPD, PID, etc.), nowadays the frequently used MS detection is the most versatile.

This system, created by the combination of GC and MS, takes the advantages of GC for the separation and quantitative evaluation of samples, while the MS ensures the high accuracy

identification of the components. It was developed by Gohlke and McLafferty [Gohlke 1959; Gohlke and McLafferty,1993], when in 1955 a GC was coupled to a TOF MS. Since then, this technique had a long way of development resulting in a powerful analytical device, where GC is most often coupled with quadrupole or ion trap MS.

GC and GC-MS have been extensively used for the separation of carbohydrates. However, since these compounds are not sufficiently volatile for gas chromatography, many studies have been directed to prepare suitably volatile derivatives. The high number of functional groups (usually being hydroxyls) and the diversity of samples require specific methods. Because of the relatively low volatility, GC analysis is limited to derivatized sugars with low molecular weight, therefore polysaccharides are usually derivatized and examined after hydrolyzing them to monosaccharide residues. Hydrolyzation can be performed by acid hydrolysis [Albersheim et al., 1967; Chen et al., 2005], methanolysis [Kim et al., 2005], enzymatic hydrolysis [Mansfield et al., 1999; Subramaniyan and Prema, 2002; Sørensen et al., 2004; Peatciyammal et al., 2010] or microwave assisted hydrolysis [Corsaro et al., 2004].

Concerning derivatization, also several methods exist. Methyl [Price, 2008], trimethylsilyl [Isidorov and Szczepaniak, 2009], *tert*-butyldimethylsilyl ethers [Painter et al., 2004], acetates [Dell, 1990] and trifluoroacetates [Zanetta et al., 1972, 1999] are the most common derivatives allowing the examination of oligosaccharides also, however, these derivatization methods usually result in multiple peaks in the chromatogram, due to different tautomeric forms. To simplify the chromatograms by producing a single peak, very stable alditol acetate derivatives can be formed [Sawardeker et al., 1965; Brunton et al., 2007], but this method is only applicable in case of monosaccharides, during the reduction of aldoses and ketoses the same alditol can be formed and the volatility of the derivatives is low [Sanz and Martinez-Castro, 2007]. Other possible derivatives are oximes [Füzfai et al., 2008], aldononitriles [Zhang et al., 2007] or dithioacetals [Honda et al., 1979; Lluveras et al., 2010], although, these methods have also drawbacks, such as, low stability in high moisture environment, applicability only to aldoses and inefficient derivatizetion reaction, respectively [Ruiz-Matute et al., 2011].

#### 2.3.4 Matrix-Assisted Laser Desorption Ionization-Time of Flight MS

Mass spectrometry is a group of highly sensitive techniques for the acquisition of structural and mass information about sample molecules. However, the applicability of MS in the analysis of

non-volatile biopolymers and organic macromolecules was limited. The invention of MALDI-TOF [Karas et al., 1985; Tanaka et al., 1988] has revolutionarized the study of these compounds. MALDI has evolved from laser desorption MS [Honig and Woolston, 1963], in which the sample molecules on a solid surface are shot by a laser beam to ionize. However, due to the high energy of the laser, the molecules are fragmented instead of the ionization of the whole molecule. In the case of MALDI, the samples are mixed with a matrix – consisting of small, laser-absorbing organic molecules which do not interact with the analyte – prior to laser irradiation thereby "protecting" the sample, which is now able to evaporise and form quasi-molecular ions by exchanging protons with the excited matrix without fragmentation.

Consequently, it is crucial to find the best matrix for the sample of interest. In the case of endotoxins, 2,4,6-trihydroxyacetophenone (THAP) with nitrocellulose [Sturiale et al., 2005; John et al., 2009] or 2,5-dihydroxybenzoic acid (2,5-DHB) with [Gibson et al., 1997] or without [Thérisod et al., 2001; Snyder et al., 2009] 1-hydroxyisoquinoline (HIQ) have been used. The most frequently applied mass analyzer with MALDI is time-of-flight (TOF), which has a theoretically unlimited upper mass range although low molecular mass (less than 1000 Da)

theoretically unlimited upper mass range, although low molecular mass (less than 1000 Da) detection encounters difficulties, since the formed matrix ions or possible fragment ions can interfere with those of the analyte. For large molecular mass samples the more sensitive linear, while for low molecular mass samples the more resolutive reflectron mode can be applied.

To improve the sensitivity of MALDI experiments, further steps can be applied, such as sample desalting with ion-exchange resin (e.g. Amberlite, Dowex) to reduce the amount of interfering agents [Rund et al., 1999; Pupo et al., 2004; Snyder et al., 2009], increase in sample solubility (with the addition of citric acid in case of intact LPS [Thérisod et al., 2001]) or the application of delayed extraction (DE) mode [Brown and Lennon, 1995; Vestal et al., 1995; Whittal and Li, 1995].

#### 3. AIMS

The main goal of this study was to describe the structural components and the structure of the core part of endotoxins from *S. sonnei R*-type isogenic mutant strains, since these strains are generated from the same *S*-type parent strain (*S. sonnei* phase I) assuming similarities in their structures. To achieve this goal, the detailed aims of this study were the followings:

To develop a suitable CE-LIF method, specialized for the detection of various carbohydrate components, by applying the fluorescent dye APTS, in order to apply the developed method in the investigation of bacterial endotoxins

 $\succ$  To identify the carbohydrate components of the hydrolyzed core part of bacterial endotoxins from *S. sonnei R*-type isogenic mutant strains with the help of the developed CE-LIF method

To identify the carbohydrate components of the hydrolyzed core part of bacterial endotoxins from *S. sonnei R*-type isogenic mutant strains by GC-MS measurements

 $\succ$  To determine the structural homologies and differences of the core part of bacterial endotoxins from *S. sonnei R*-type isogenic mutant strains by MALDI-TOF measurements

To describe the various structures of the core part of bacterial endotoxins from a series of the mutant *Shigella sonnei R*-type strains based on various analytical means, in an increasing order of complexity.

28

#### 4. MATERIALS AND METHODS

The chemicals and the methods are described in details in the articles published [Bui et al., 2008, 2011; Kilár et al., 2011].

## **4.1 MATERIALS**

Mono- and oligosaccharides used in our experiments (fructose, galactose, galactosamine, glucose, glucosamine, inositol, lactose, maltose, mannose, melibiose, N-acetyl-D-galactosamine, N-acetyl-D-glucosamine, ribose, saccharose, stachyose, xylose) were from Sigma-Aldrich. APTS (8-aminopyrene-1,3,6-trisulfonic acid) was from Sigma and Fluka, sodium cyanoborohydride (1.0 M NaBH<sub>3</sub>CN solution in THF) was from Aldrich, while citric acid and boric acid were from Reanal. All reagents were of analytical grade.

#### **4.1.1 Bacterial Endotoxins**

#### Bacterial strains and culture conditions

The *S. sonnei* "*R*" mutant strains were cultured in a 30-liter laboratory fermentor (B. Braun Melsungen, Germany) at 37°C in a beef-extract pepton broth pH 7.2 until they reached the late logarithmic phase (about 10 h), and then bacteria were collected by centrifugation [Kocsis and Kontrohr, 1984].

# Extraction and preparation of bacterial endotoxins

Bacteria have been acetone-dried, then the endotoxins have been extracted by the phenolchloroform-petroleum ether method [Galanos et al., 1969], ultracentrifuged ( $100.000 \times g$ ,  $3 \times 4h$ ) and were lyophilized afterward.

The endotoxins (50-200 mg) were hydrolyzed with 1 % acetic acid at 100°C for 90 minutes, to separate the carbohydrate part from the lipid A part. The lipid A part of the endotoxins was removed by centrifugation (10000 × g, 15 min, 4°C). The supernatant – containing the truncated core parts and the Kdo debris – was lyophilized and redissolved in 1 ml pyridine-acetate buffer afterward (4 ml pyridine and 20 ml acetic acid in 1000 ml destillated water) then fractionated by gel-chromatography on a Sephadex G-50 column (Sigma-Aldrich, USA) (2.5 × 80 cm) using the same buffer [Vinogradov, 2002]. 4-ml fractions were collected and tested by the phenol-sulfuric acid method [Dubois et al., 1956] to verify their carbohydrate content. Fractions, containing

carbohydrates, were lyophilized then the polysaccharide chains were hydrolyzed with 0.5 M sulfuric acid at 100°C for 14 h in order to obtain the monosaccharide components of the core part. After hydrolysis, barium-hydroxide was added to the samples to remove the sulfate ions. The hydrolyzed endotoxin-samples were filtered and lyophilized afterwards.

#### **4.2 METHODS**

#### 4.2.1 GC-MS Examinations

#### Sample derivatization for GC-MS experiments

The endotoxin-hydrolyzates were examined by GC-MS in their alditol-acetate derivative form. Derivatization was performed based on Sawardeker's method [Sawardeker et al., 1965]. Brielfy, the hydrolyzates were reduced with sodium-borohydride at room temperature for 4 h. Excess borohydride was quenched with acetic acid and then the borate was removed with methanol and the samples containing the reduced sugars were then desiccated. Peracetylation was performed with acetic anhydride at 100°C for 12 h. Samples containing the sugar derivatives were desiccated after washing with water and then resuspended in chloroform.

#### GC-MS experimental conditions

The experiments were carried out on a GC-MS system consisting of an Agilent 6890N gaschromatograph coupled to an Agilent 5975 mass spectrometer. The separation was performed on an Agilent DB-225 capillary column, with a length of 30 m, inner diameter of 0.25 mm and film thickness of 0.15  $\mu$ m. Helium was used as a carrier gas with an initial flow of 1.5 ml/min. 1-1  $\mu$ l of samples dissolved in chloroform were injected in splitless mode through the injector set at 250 °C. In the GC temperature program the initial temperature was 100 °C and was raised to 185 °C with a rate of 35 °C/min, then to 220 °C with a rate of 5 °C/min and maintained for 60 minutes. The transfer line was set at 280 °C and the ion source was used at 230 °C. The mass spectrometer was operated at 70 eV in the electron ionization (EI) mode, the mass analyzer was a quadrupole. The monosaccharides from the hydrolyzed endotoxin-samples were identified with the help of the MS-library and with the addition of known standards to the samples (so-called spiking). Inositol was used as internal standard in its alditol-acetate form, since none of the samples contains it naturally.

#### 4.2.2 Capillary Electrophoresis

#### Sample derivatization for CE-LIF experiments

0.1 M mono- and oligosaccharide standards and 2 mg/ml aquaeous solutions from the endotoxin hydrolyzates were prepared as stock solutions. Before derivatization 2 or 5  $\mu$ l of the stock solutions were desiccated, respectively. The derivatization of the saccharides was performed with the addition of the APTS fluorescent dye [Bui et al., 2008]. The ratio of the dye and the carbohydrate components in the sample was varied with the addition of appropriate amounts of 0.1 M APTS aquaeous solution to the desiccated samples. Reductive amination was catalysed with the addition of 0.6 M citric acid and 1.0 M NaBH<sub>3</sub>CN inTHF. The reaction proceeded at 75 °C for 1 h. The derivatized samples were diluted to 200  $\mu$ l (or to a higher volume) for proper detection in the CE-LIF experiments. The labeling process was performed in triplicates in order to verify the reproducibility.

#### **CE-LIF** experimental conditions

Capillary electrophoretic experiments of the fluorescently labeled samples were performed on a Crystal 300 CE system (Unicam Ltd., UK) equipped with a Zetalif laser-induced fluorescence (LIF) detector (Picometrics, France). The separations were carried out in an uncoated fused silica capillary with an inner diameter of 20 µm with an overall length of 60 cm and effective length of 48 cm. Before sample injection the capillary was washed with destillated water for 3 minutes (2000 mbar), then with background electrolyte (120 mM borate buffer pH 10.2) also for 3 minutes (2000 mbar). The sample was injected with 20 or 50 mbar pressure for 0.23 minutes. After injection the end of the capillary was immersed in a buffer-containing vial for 0.1 minutes to remove the dye attached occasionally to the outer surface of the capillary. The experimental conditions of the runs were the followings in every case: 30 kV voltage, about 21 µA current, 120 mM borate pH 10.2 background electrolyte. A 50 mbar pressure was applied on the capillary during the electrophoresis to shorten the runtime (the applied pressure did not influence the quality of the separation). The APTS-labeled samples were excited with a 488 nm Ar-ion laser (Spectra-Physics Inc., USA), and the emission was detected through a 505 nm high pass fluorescence emission filter. Data were collected by the Axxi-Chrom 717 Chromatography Data Station (Axxiom Chromatography Inc., USA) program. After each electrophoretic run the capillary was washed with 0.1 M NaOH (2000 mbar) for 4 minutes. The identification of the fluorescent derivatives of the samples was done by the addition of derivatized known standards to the samples (so-called spiking).

#### 4.2.3 MALDI-TOF-MS

#### Sample preparation for MALDI-TOF-MS experiments

1 mg of intact LPS samples extracted from *Shigella sonnei 4350, 562H, R41* and *4303* strains were suspended in 0.5 ml of 0.1 M citric acid aqueous solution and sonicated for 10 min [Thérisod et al., 2001]. To reduce the number of salt adducts a rapid desalting step of the analyte was carried out by using Dowex 50WX8-200 (H<sup>+</sup>) cation-exchange resin previously converted into its ammonium form (by boiling the beads in 0.1 M ammonium nitrate solution for 3 h) on Parafilm prior to the MALDI crystallization [Nordhoff et al., 1992]. In this cleanup step, 5-µl aliquot of the sample was transferred as a single droplet onto the piece of Parafilm which had a dispersed layer of Dowex 50WX8-200 (NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>) cation-exchange resin beads. 1µl from this mixture was deposited on a stainless steel target and mixed thoroughly with 1 µl of a 10 mg/ml solution of 2,5-dihydroxy benzoic acid (DHB) matrix (dissolved in 0.1 M citric acid aqueous solution) and analyzed immediately after drying.

# MALDI-TOF-MS experimental conditions

The matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionization time-of-flight mass spectrometry (MALDI-TOF MS) measurements were performed on an Autoflex II MALDI-TOF/TOF MS instrument (Bruker Daltonics, Bremen, Germany) equipped with a 1.2 m drift tube. Samples were ionized by nitrogen laser pulse ( $\lambda = 337$  nm, 50 Hz). The laser power was adjusted between 30 and 40 % of its maximum intensity. Delayed extraction (DE) conditions were used. Ions were accelerated through +19 kV and the spectra were recorded in the negative-ion and linear mode over the 800-4000 m/z range. Each spectrum was the sum of approximately 500 laser shots on the same sample spot. The calibration of the instrument was performed externally using a Peptide Calibration standard mixture obtained from Bruker Daltonics. Data processing was executed with Flex Analysis software packages, version 2.4. (Bruker Daltonics, Bremen, Germany). The evaluation of the MS spectra was made considering the following average mass units for the calculation of molecular masses of the ions: GlcN ( $\beta$ -1–6-linked GlcN) disaccharide: 340.33; C14(3-OH) (3hydroxytetradecanoic acid): 226.36; C14 (tetradecanoic acid): 210.36; C14unsat (unsaturated tetradecanoic acid): 208.34; C12 (dodecanoic acid): 182.31; Kdo (3-deoxy-D-manno-2octulosonic acid): 220.18; Hep (heptose): 192.17; Hex (hexose): 162.14; P (phosphate): 79.98; H: 1.01. Satellite peaks identified by differences of 22 and 38 Da from the main peak were considered as sodium or potassium adduct ions, as the mass differences from the main peaks can be described by  $[M + Na - 2H]^{-}$  or  $[M + K - 2H]^{-}$ .

#### **5. RESULTS**

# 5.1 DEVELOPMENT OF THE CE-LIF METHOD FOR THE EXAMINATION OF CARBOHYDRATE COMPONENTS

To develop a sensitive method for carbohydrate detection, first we have studied the methodological problems in the labeling efficiency of mono- and oligosaccharides. The conjugation of sugars was modelled by labeling with APTS separately and in mixtures. The efficiency of the separation and the labeling was followed by CZE of dye-conjugate mixtures [Bui et al., 2008].

To verify the separation efficiency of the method, monosaccharides (fructose, galactose, galactose, galactosamine, glucose, glucosamine, mannose, N-acetyl-D-galactosamine, N-acetyl-D-glucosamine, ribose, xylose), disaccharides (lactose, maltose, melibiose, saccharose), and a tetrasaccharide (stachyose) were labeled separately with APTS. 0.1 M standard saccharide solutions were prepared in water, whereof 2- $\mu$ l portions were desiccated in Speed Vac. 2  $\mu$ l of 0.1 M APTS in water, 2  $\mu$ l of 0.6 M citric acid and 2  $\mu$ l of 1.0 M NaBH<sub>3</sub>CN (in THF) was added to the desiccated monosaccharide standards.

After labeling (at 1:1 dye:carbohydrate molar ratio) the conjugates were mixed (1:1 molar ratios of the initial concentrations of the different carbohydrate substances) and submitted to electrophoresis (**Figures 8 and 9**). The labeled monosaccharides migrated separately and appeared with different peak areas in the electropherograms, except the APTS conjugates of glucose, ribose and saccharose were co-migrating (result is not shown). During these experiments, we could also observe that conjugates of fructose, saccharose, stachyose and the amino-sugars (galactosamine and glucosamine) were always appearing as relatively small (the two latter slightly broader) peaks in the electropherograms. The relative peak area ratios corresponding to the conjugates in the electropherogram are summarized in **Table 2**. compared to the peak of D-mannose.



**Figure 8.** Capillary zone electrophoresis of APTS-labeled monosaccharides. The monosaccharides were labeled with 1:1 ratio of sugar:dye separately, prior to mixing them for injection (GalN – galactosamine, GlcN – glucosamine, Man – mannose, Glc – glucose, Fru – fructose, Xyl – xylose, Gal – galactose). During the run a 50 mbar pressure was applied for a faster detection of the zones. Experimental conditions: fused silica capillary, 60cm X 20 $\mu$ m ID, effective separation length 48cm; running buffer 10mM borate pH10.2; sample injection 0.23min 20mbar; applied voltage 30kV.



**Figure 9.** Capillary zone electrophoresis of APTS-labeled saccharides. The saccharides were labeled with 1:1 ratio of sugar:dye separately, prior to mixing them for injection. (Sta – stachyose, Lac – lactose, Mel – melibiose, GalNAc – N-acetyl-galactosamine, GlcNAc – N-acetyl-glucosamine, Man – mannose and Sach – saccharose). Experimental conditions were as in **Figure 8**.

**Table 2.** Relative peak areas of carbohydrate-APTS conjugates in capillary zone electrophoresis in Figure

 8 and 9.

	Peak area
	(normalized to the
Peaks in Figure 8	peak of mannose)
Galactosamine	0.16
Glucosamine	0.11
Mannnose	1
Glucose	1.22
Fructose	0.06
Xylose	0.77
Galactose	1.72
Peaks in Figure 9	
Stachyose	0.16
Lactose	1.53
Melibiose	0.56
N-acetyl-galactosamine	0.70
N-acetyl-glucosamine	0.69
Mannose	1
Saccharose	0.25

In order to examine the efficacy of labeling, various molar ratios of the sugars to the dye were applied during the labeling process. In addition, sugar molecules were labeled separately and in mixture, to verify if a competitive effect occurs. In the case of sugars labeled separately, changing the molar ratio from 1:7 up to 4:1 (APTS:carbohydrate, respectively) no changes in the labeling behaviour of the components (indicated by the relative peak area ratios in the electropherogram) were observed (results are not shown).

When, however, mixtures of monosaccharides were labeled with APTS, the relative peak areas represented uneven labeling of the different molecules. Applying an APTS to "total carbohydrate" ratio 1:7 (**Figure 10**) or 1:1 (**Figure 11**), respectively, some sugars were labeled with less efficiency, or not labeled at all. For example the aminosugars appeared only in the electropherograms if the ratio was at least 1:1, but the same peak area ratios were observed only if the APTS:total carbohydrate ratio was at least (or higher than) 2:1 (**Figure 12**).



**Figure 10.** Capillary zone electrophoresis of seven monosaccharides labeled in mixture with 1:7=APTS:sugar ratio (Man – mannose, Glc – glucose, Fru – fructose, Xyl – xylose, Gal – galactose). During the run a 50 mbar pressure was applied for a faster detection of the zones. Experimental conditions were as in **Figure 8**.

Although the mixture also contained GalN and GlcN, they did not appear in the electropherogram.



**Figure 11.** Capillary zone electrophoresis of seven monosaccharides labeled in mixture with 1:1=APTS:sugar ratio (GalN – galactosamine, GlcN – glucosamine, Man – mannose, Glc – glucose, Fru – fructose, Xyl – xylose, Gal – galactose). Experimental conditions were as in **Figure 8**.


**Figure 12.** Capillary zone electrophoresis of seven monosaccharides labeled in mixture with 2:1=APTS:sugar ratio (GalN – galactosamine, GlcN – glucosamine, Man – mannose, Glc – glucose, Fru – fructose, Xyl – xylose, Gal – galactose) Experimental conditions were as in **Figure 8**.

# 5.2 CARBOHYDRATE CONSTITUENTS AND STRUCTURES OF THE R-TYPE ENDOTOXINS

To identify the carbohydrate constituents of the core part of the endotoxins, Lipid A was removed after mild acid hydrolysis of the intact LPS samples from *S. sonnei* isogenic rough mutants *4350*, *562H*, *R41* and *4303*, and the truncated core parts of the different LPSs were separated on Sephadex G-50 gel-chromatography. The first gel-chromatography fractions after hydrolysis, which appeared near to the void volume of the separation column, were considered to be the complete endotoxin components, which remained after the incomplete hydrolytic treatment. The latter saccharide-containing fractions were further hydrolyzed to obtain monosaccharide residues which were then analyzed by gas-chromatography with MS detection and capillary electrophoresis with LIF detection [Bui et al., 2011].

For the GC-MS experiments, the alditol-acetate derivatives of the hydrolyzed endotoxin fractions were resuspended in chloroform and inositol in chloroform was added as internal standard.

For CE-LIF experiments, hydrolyzed endotoxin fractions were labeled with APTS. Since the exact molar mass of endotoxins was not known, and we expected to deal only with heptose and hexose monosaccharides, we assumed an average molar mass of 200 Da. 2 mg/ml sample solutions (from hyrdolyzed endotoxin fractions) were prepared in water, whereof  $5-\mu l$  portions were desiccated in Speed Vac. To ensure the dye excess in the labeling mixture, 4:1 = dye:sugar ratio was applied by

adding 2  $\mu$ l of 0.1 M APTS in water, 2  $\mu$ l of 0.6 M citric acid and 2  $\mu$ l of 1.0 M NaBH<sub>3</sub>CN (in THF) to the desiccated samples.

The negative-ion MALDI-TOF-MS spectra of intact LPSs extracted from the isogenic rough mutant variants of *Shigella sonnei 4350*, *562H*, *R41* and *4303* obtained in linear mode [Kilár et al., 2011], are shown in **Figures 13, 16, 19, 22**, respectively. All samples were dissolved in 0.1 M citric acid at a concentration of 2 mg/ml and desalted afterward with Dowex 50WX8-200 ( $NH_4^+$ ) cation-exchange resin beads. Dried-droplet crystallization was used applying DHB as matrix. The MALDI-TOF-MS spectra exhibit complex pattern indicating heterogeneities in both, the lipid A parts and the core OS parts.

In all spectra (**Figures 13, 16, 19, 22**), the quasimolecular ions  $[M-H]^-$  at m/z 1134, 1361, 1569 and 1797 were observed (with different intensities) corresponding to bis-phosphorylated tri-, tetra-, penta- and hexa-acylated lipid A species, respectively (see the interpretation of the mass signals in **Tables 3** and **4**).

#### 5.2.1 Shigella sonnei 4350

In the case of *S. sonnei* 4350 only the non-disintegrated (complete) endotoxin appeared in the gelchromatography fractions, near to the void volume of the column, and no monosaccharide residues were found in the hydrolyzed fraction by either of the separation methods (results not shown).

In the MALDI-TOF experiments (**Figure 13**), additionaly to the ions corresponding to the differently acylated lipid A species, major ions were observed at m/z 1574.3, 1800.2, 2008.9 and 2237.5 corresponding to the respective lipid A species carrying two Kdo molecules (**Table 3**). The ions are accompanied by signals 22 and 38 Da higher corresponding to sodium and potassium adduct ions, as  $[M+Na-2H]^-$  and  $[M+K-2H]^-$ .



**Figure 13.** Negative-ion linear mode MALDI-TOF-MS spectrum of intact R-type endotoxin extracted from *S. sonnei 4350.* The peaks are described in the text and in **Table 3**. Experimental details are described in Materials and Methods. Kdo: 3-deoxy-D-manno-2-octulosonic acid.

**Table 3.** Composition and interpretation of the signals observed in the negative ion linear mode MALDI-TOF-MS spectra of the *R*-type lipopolysaccharides extracted from *Shigella sonnei 4350, 562H* and *R41* strains

Calculated masses <sup>a</sup>	4350	562H	R41	Acyl content of	Interpretation, proposed composition <sup>b</sup>
[ <b>M</b> – <b>H</b> ] <sup>−</sup>	<b>Fig. 13</b>	<b>Fig. 16</b>	<b>Fig. 19</b>	the lipid A	
	-	-	Ū.	moiety	
<u>Lipid A</u>					
1134.3	1134.4	1134.6	1134.5	Tri-acyl	2×C14(3-OH), 1×C12, 2×P
1360.7	1360.8	1360.9	1361.0	Tetra-acyl	3×C14(3-OH), 1×C12, 2×P
1569.0	1569.6		1569.7	Penta-acyl	3×C14(3-OH), 1×C14unsat, 1×C12, 2×P
1587.0		(1587.4)	1587.9	Penta-acyl	4×C14(3-OH), 1×C12, 2×P
1797.4	1797.1	1797.3	1797.6	Hexa-acyl	4×C14(3-OH), 1×C14, 1×C12, 2×P
<u>Lipid A + Kdo</u>					
1476.7		1476.4		Tri-acyl	1×C14(3-OH), 1×C14unsat, 1×C12, 2×Kdo, 1×P
1556.7		1556.6		Tri-acyl	1×C14(3-OH), 1×C14unsat, 1×C12, 2×Kdo, 2×P
1574.7	1574.3	1575.0		Tri-acyl	2×C14(3-OH), 1×C12, 2×Kdo, 2×P
1703.0		1703.2		Tetra-acyl	2×C14(3-OH), 1×C14unsat, 1×C12, 2×Kdo, 1×P
1783.0		1783.0		Tetra-acyl	2×C14(3-OH), 1×C14unsat, 1×C12, 2×Kdo, 2×P
1801.0	1800.2	1801.1		Tetra-acyl	3×C14(3-OH), 1×C12, 2×Kdo, 2×P
2009.4	2008.9	(2010.4)		Penta-acyl	3×C14(3-OH), 1×C14unsat, 1×C12, 2×Kdo, 2×P
2011.4		2010.4		Penta-acyl	3×C14(3-OH), 1×C14, 1×C12, 2×Kdo, 2×P
2237.7	2237.5	2237.4		Hexa-acyl	4×C14(3-OH), 1×C14, 1×C12, 2×Kdo, 2×P
<u>Lipid A + Kdo + Hep</u>					
1766.8		1766.9		Tri-acyl	2×C14(3-OH), 1×C12, 2×Kdo, 1×Hep, 2×P
1879.0			1878.6	Tri-acyl	2×C14(3-OH), 1×C12, 2×Kdo, 2×Hep, 1×P
1959.0			1959.7	Tri-acyl	2×C14(3-OH), 1×C12, 2×Kdo, 2×Hep, 2×P
1993.2		1993.1		Tetra-acyl	3×C14(3-OH), 1×C12, 2×Kdo, 1×Hep, 2×P
2105.4			2105.6	Tetra-acyl	3×C14(3-OH), 1×C12, 2×Kdo, 2×Hep, 1×P
2185.4			2185.3	Tetra-acyl	3×C14(3-OH), 1×C12, 2×Kdo, 2×Hep, 2×P
2219.6		2219.8		Penta-acyl	4×C14(3-OH), 1×C12, 2×Kdo, 1×Hep, 2×P
2265.3			2265.2	Tetra-acyl	3×C14(3-OH), 1×C12, 2×Kdo, 2×Hep, 3×P
2395.7			2395.2	Penta-acyl	3×C14(3-OH), 1×C14, 1×C12, 2×Kdo, 2×Hep, 2×P
2411.7			2412.1	Penta-acyl	4×C14(3-OH), 1×C12, 2×Kdo, 2×Hep, 2×P
2429.9		2429.5		Hexa-acyl	4×C14(3-OH), 1×C14, 1×C12, 2×Kdo, 1×Hep, 2×P
2475.7			2476.0	Penta-acyl	3×C14(3-OH), 1×C14, 1×C12, 2×Kdo, 2×Hep, 3×P
2622.1			2622.4	Hexa-acyl	4×C14(3-OH), 1×C14, 1×C12, 2×Kdo, 2×Hep, 2×P
2702.1			2701.8	Hexa-acyl	4×C14(3-OH), 1×C14, 1×C12, 2×Kdo, 2×Hep, 3×P

<sup>a</sup> The average mass units were used for the "calculated mass" values based on the proposed compositions by using: GlcN disaccharide: 340.33; C14(3-OH): 226.36; C14: 210.36; C14unsat: 208.34; C12: 182.31; Kdo: 220.18; Hep: 192.17; P: 79.98; H: 1.01.

<sup>b</sup> All lipid A or LPS forms contain a 2-amino-2-deoxy- $\beta$ -D-glucopyranose-(1' $\rightarrow$ 6)-2-amino-2-deoxy- $\beta$ -D-glucopyranose backbone (GlcN disaccharide).

#### 5.2.2 Shigella sonnei 562H

The GC-MS and CE-LIF analyses of the hydrolyzed core samples from *S. sonnei 562H* LPS showed the presence of only one type of monosaccharide components. In the GC-MS experiments (**Figure 14**), the component was identified with the help of the MS library as peracetylated heptose, presumably D-glycero-D-mannoheptose. The relative retention time of the peracetylated heptose derivative was 1.44 compared to that of the peracetylated inositol derivative, used as internal standard.



**Figure 14.** GC-MS chromatogram of the alditol-acetate derivatives of lipid A-free endotoxin from *S. sonnei* mutant *562H* after hydrolysis and fractionation on a Sephadex G-50 column. (Ino – inositol (IS), DD-Hep – D-glycero-D-mannoheptose). Experimental conditions are described in Materials and Methods.

In the CE-LIF experiments (**Figure 15**), also a single peak of an APTS-labeled monosaccharide appeared in the electropherogram, confirming the GC-MS results. Although we did not have heptose standard for spiking, but we could rely on the mass spectrometric data from GC-MS experiments, we could identify the peak as a heptose-derivative.



**Figure 15.** Capillary zone electrophoresis of APTS-labeled lipid A-free endotoxin from *S. sonnei* mutant *562H* after hydrolysis and fractionation on a Sephadex G-50 column. (DD-Hep – D-glycero-D-mannoheptose) Experimental conditions: sample injection 0.23min 50mbar. All other conditions were as in **Figure 8**.

In the MALDI-TOF negative ion spectrum of intact LPS from *S. sonnei* 562H mutant (**Figure 16**) tri-, tetra- and hexa-acylated LPS species containing two Kdo molecules were observed at m/z values 1575.0, 1801.1 and 2237.4, respectively, similarly to *S. sonnei* 4350. Meanwhile, at m/z values 1556.6, 1783.0 and 2010.4 the presence of unsaturated acyl chains was observed in tri-, tetra- and penta-acylated LPS species, containing lipid A linked to two Kdo molecules, respectively (see **Table 3**). Some weak signals of mono-phosphorylated tri- and tetra-acyl species could be identified at m/z 1476.4 and 1703.2, respectively, with -80 Da differences to the bis-phosphorylated ones. Peaks at m/z 1766.9, 1993.1, 2219.8 and 2429.4 were identified as the LPS quasimolecular ions containing the tri-, tetra-, penta- or hexa-acylated lipid A moiety and two Kdo and one heptose (Hep) units.



**Figure 16.** Negative-ion linear mode MALDI-TOF-MS spectrum of intact R-type endotoxin extracted from *S. sonnei 562H.* The peaks are described in the text and in **Table 3**. Experimental details are described in Materials and Methods. Kdo: 3-deoxy-D-manno-2-octulosonic acid, Hep: heptose, P: phosphate.

# 5.2.3 Shigella sonnei R41

The GC-MS and CE-LIF analyses of the hydrolyzed core samples from *R41* LPS showed the presence of only heptose monosaccharide components. In the GC-MS experiments (**Figure 17**), the component was identified with the help of the MS library as peracetylated heptose. The relative retention time of the peracetylated heptose derivative was 1.59 compared to the peracetylated inositol derivative, used as internal standard. This result suggests, that the heptose in *S. sonnei 562H* and the one in *R41* somehow differs from each other, presuming L-glycero-D-mannoheptose as the constituent of the *S. sonnei R41* endotoxin core.



**Figure 17.** GC-MS chromatogram of the alditol-acetate derivatives of lipid A-free endotoxin from *S. sonnei* mutant *R41* after hydrolysis and fractionation on a Sephadex G-50 column. (Ino – inositol (IS), LD-Hep – L-glycero-D-mannoheptose) Experimental conditions are described in Materials and Methods.

In the CE-LIF experiments (**Figure 18**), similar results were observed as in the case of *S. sonnei 562H*: also a single peak of an APTS-labeled monosaccharide appeared in the electropherogram, confirming the GC-MS results. Although we did not have heptose standard for spiking, but we could rely on the mass spectrometric data from GC-MS experiments, we could identify the peak as a heptose-derivative. Although a slight difference was detected concerning the migration times of the peaks and the GC-results were evident, the CE results were not obvious; therefore we carried on further studies with the comparison of the two heptose types. (See Chapter 5.2.5.)



**Figure 18.** Capillary zone electrophoresis of APTS-labeled lipid A-free endotoxin from *S. sonnei* mutant *R41* after hydrolysis and fractionation on a Sephadex G-50 column. (LD-Hep – L-glycero-D-mannoheptose) Experimental conditions were as in **Figure 8**.

The intact endotoxin extracted from bacteria was examined by MALDI-TOF also in the case of *S. sonnei R41*. In these experiments (**Figure 19**), besides the peaks also observed in the case of the other strains corresponding to the tri-, tetra-, penta- and hexa-acylated lipid A species, another series of peaks could be detected, where m/z 1959.7, 2185.3, 2412.1 and 2622.4 values correspond to the intact LPS moieties containing the core OS linked to the differently acylated lipid A molecules. The *ca.* 824 Da difference between m/z 2622 and 1798, 2412 and 1588, 2185 and 1361, and 1960 and 1135 indicates a core structure containing two Kdo (2×220) and two heptose (Hep) units (2×192). However, some minor satellite peaks appear with differences of ±80 Da corresponding to tris- or mono-phosphorylation states. Most of the ions are accompanied by signals 22 Da higher corresponding to sodium adduct ions.



**Figure 19.** Negative-ion linear mode MALDI-TOF-MS spectrum of intact R-type endotoxin extracted from *Shigella sonnei R41*. The peaks are described in the text and in **Table 3**. Experimental details are described in Materials and Methods. Kdo: 3-deoxy-D-manno-2-octulosonic acid, Hep: heptose, P: phosphate.

# 5.2.4 Shigella sonnei 4303

The monosaccharide constituents of *R*-type endotoxin from *S. sonnei* 4303 mutant was also examined and three monosaccharides were detected by the two methods in the hydrolyzed truncated core part.

In the GC-MS experiments, three peaks could be observed, corresponding to D-galactose, D-glucose and heptose constituents, where the estimated molar ratio of D-galactose and D-glucose was found to be 2.0:3.1, and the relative retention times (compared to the peracetylated inositol) of the alditol acetate derivatives of D-galactose, D-glucose and heptose were 0.91, 0.96 and 1.60, respectively. (**Figure 20**) Accordingly, this mutant contains the same type heptose as the *S. sonnei R41* mutant strain, *i.e.* L-glycero-D-mannoheptose.



**Figure 20.** GC-MS chromatogram of the alditol-acetate derivatives of lipid A-free endotoxin from *S. sonnei* mutant *4303* after hydrolysis and fractionation on a Sephadex G-50 column. (Gal – galactose, Glc – glucose, Ino – inositol (IS), LD-Hep – L-glycero-D-mannoheptose) Experimental conditions are described in Materials and Methods.

During the capillary electrophoretical analysis, the fluorescent derivatives of the heptose and D-glucose constituents in the 4303 LPS sample comigrated, but separated from the fluorescent derivative of D-galactose (**Figure 21**). Hexoses were identified with spiking the sample with derivatized known standards, while due to the lack of a heptose standard, heptose was identified based on the GC-MS results.



**Figure 21.** Capillary zone electrophoresis of APTS-labeled lipid A-free endotoxin from *S. sonnei* mutant *4303* after hydrolysis and fractionation on a Sephadex G-50 column. (Glc – glucose, LD-Hep – L-glycero-D-mannoheptose, Gal - galactose) Experimental conditions were as in **Figure 15**.

Concerning the intact LPS from S. sonnei 4303, three regions – two of them overlapping – could be identified in the MALDI-TOF-MS spectrum (Figure 22), signals corresponding to (i) the intact *R*-type LPS structures, and to (ii) lipid A species (as Y-type fragment ions) between m/z 3000 – 4000 and to (iii) OS moieties (as B-type fragment ions of the LPS) between m/z 1000 – 2100 (**Table 4**). The quasimolecular ions  $[M-H]^-$  at m/z 1134.5, 1360.9, 1568.7 and 1798.0 – also observed in the case of the other isogenic mutant strains - correspond to bis-phosphorylated tri-, tetra-, penta- and hexa-acylated lipid A species, respectively. The total mass difference (ca. 1988 Da) between ions at m/z 3122.0 - 1134.5, 3348.7 - 1360.9, 3557.2 - 1568.7 and 3786.8 - 1798.0 indicates a core structure consisting of two Kdo, three heptose (Hep), five hexose (Hex), and two phosphate groups (P). Related ions with mass differences of 80 Da show different phosphorylation degrees (ranging from bis- to tetra-phosphorylation). It should be mentioned that measurement of the molecular weight allows to deduce the composition of monosaccharides, such as hexoses, heptoses, etc., but it is not able to distinguish between different isobaric monosaccharides (like Dglucose or D-galactose, L-glycero-D-mannoheptose or D-glycero-D-mannoheptose, *etc*). In the m/z1000 - 2100 region, the signals corresponding to OS species of the core (B-type ions) are also observed (see Table 4). For the OS fragments, series of neutral losses was observed, (i) the loss of one CO<sub>2</sub> group from a Kdo moiety (-44 Da, as for example between m/z 1767.1 – 1723.0), or (ii) the loss of a phosphate group (-80 Da, as for example between m/z 1803.1 – 1723.0), or (iii) the loss of one or both Kdo molecules themselves (-220 Da, as for example between m/z 1987.3 – 1767.1 or 1987.3 – 1546.2) or (iv) heptose losses (-192 Da, as for example between m/z 1546.2 – 1354.1).



**Figure 22**. Negative-ion linear mode MALDI-TOF-MS spectrum of intact R-type endotoxin extracted from *Shigella sonnei 4303*. The peaks are described in the text and in **Table 4**. Experimental details are described in Materials and Methods. Kdo: 3-deoxy-D-manno-2-octulosonic acid, Hep: heptose, P: phosphate.

Calculated masses <sup>a</sup>	<u>4303</u>	Acyl content	Interpretation, proposed composition <sup>b</sup>
[M–H] <sup>-</sup>	Fig. 22	-	
Lipid A			
1134.3	1134.5	Tri-acyl	2×C14(3-OH), 1×C12, 2×P
1360.7	1360.9	Tetra-acyl	3×C14(3-OH), 1×C12, 2×P
1569.0	1568.7	Penta-acyl	3×C14(3-OH), 1×C14unsat, 1×C12, 2×P
1797.4	1798.0	Hexa-acyl	4×C14(3-OH), 1×C14, 1×C12, 2×P
<u>Core OS fragments<sup>c</sup></u>		-	
1274.0	1274.2		$2 \times \text{Hep}, 5 \times \text{Hex}, 1 \times \text{P}$
1354.0	1354.1		$2 \times \text{Hep}, 5 \times \text{Hex}, 2 \times \text{P}$
1546.2	1546.2		$3 \times \text{Hep}, 5 \times \text{Hex}, 2 \times \text{P}$
1626.1	1626.3		$3 \times \text{Hep}, 5 \times \text{Hex}, 3 \times \text{P}$
1722.3	1723.0		$1 \times \text{Kdo-CO}_2$ , $3 \times \text{Hep}$ , $5 \times \text{Hex}$ , $2 \times P$
1766.3	1767.1		$1 \times \text{Kdo}, 3 \times \text{Hep}, 5 \times \text{Hex}, 2 \times \text{P}$
1802.3	1803.1		$1 \times \text{Kdo-CO}_2$ , $3 \times \text{Hep}$ , $5 \times \text{Hex}$ , $3 \times \text{P}$
1846.3	1846.4		$1 \times \text{Kdo}, 3 \times \text{Hep}, 5 \times \text{Hex}, 3 \times \text{P}$
1942.5	1943.2		1×Kdo, 1×Kdo–CO <sub>2</sub> , 3×Hep, 5×Hex, 2×P
1986.5	1987.3		$2 \times \text{Kdo}, 3 \times \text{Hep}, 5 \times \text{Hex}, 2 \times P$
2022.5	2023.0		1×Kdo, 1×Kdo–CO <sub>2</sub> , 3×Hep, 5×Hex, 3×P
2066.5	2067.3		$2 \times \text{Kdo}, 3 \times \text{Hep}, 5 \times \text{Hex}, 3 \times \overline{\text{P}}$
<u>Lipid A + Kdo + Hep + Hex</u>			
3121.8	3122.0	Tri-acyl	2×C14(3-OH), 1×C12, 2×Kdo, 3×Hep, 5×Hex, 4×P
3348.2	3348.7	Tetra-acyl	3×C14(3-OH), 1×C12, 2×Kdo, 3×Hep, 5×Hex, 4×P
3428.2	3428.6	Tetra-acyl	3×C14(3-OH), 1×C12, 2×Kdo, 3×Hep, 5×Hex, 5×P
3556.5	3557.2	Penta-acyl	3×C14(3-OH), 1×C14unsat, 1×C12, 2×Kdo, 3×Hep, 5×Hex, 4×P
3636.5	3637.3	Penta-acyl	3×C14(3-OH), 1×C14unsat, 1×C12, 2×Kdo, 3×Hep, 5×Hex, 5×P
3784.9	3786.8	Hexa-acyl	4×C14(3-OH), 1×C14, 1×C12, 2×Kdo, 3×Hep, 5×Hex, 4×P
3864.9	3865.9	Hexa-acvl	4×C14(3-OH), 1×C14, 1×C12, 2×Kdo, 3×Hep, 5×Hex, 5×P

**Table 4.** Composition and interpretation of the signals observed in the negative ion linear mode MALDI-TOF-MS spectra of the *R*-type lipopolysaccharides extracted from the *Shigella sonnei 4303* strain

<sup>a</sup> The average mass units were used for the "calculated mass" values based on the proposed compositions by using: GlcN disaccharide 340.33; C14(3-OH): 226.36; C14: 210.36; C14unsat: 208.34; C12: 182.31; Kdo: 220.18; Hep: 192.17; Hex: 162.14; P: 79.98; H: 1.01. <sup>b</sup> All lipid A or LPS forms contain 2-amino-2-deoxy- $\beta$ -D-glucopyranose-(1' $\rightarrow$ 6)-2-amino-2-deoxy- $\beta$ -D-glucopyranose backbone (GlcN disaccharide).

<sup>c</sup> These B-type ions [Domon and Costello, 1988] are formed by the cleavage of a glycosidic bond, losing the glycosidic oxygen. For mass calculation the loss of one water molecule at the reducing terminal sugar should be considered

#### 5.2.5 Comparison of the endotoxins from different Shigella sonnei R-type strains

Since we have encountered differences concerning the heptose constituents during GC-MS experiements and in the CE-LIF experiments results were not evidently supporting, the different samples were mixed together to verify, whether we deal really with two different heptoses or not. Results were reassuringly clear, since both in GC-MS (**Figure 23**) and CE-LIF experiments (**Figure 24**) the mixture of endotoxin hydrolyzates from *S. sonnei 562H* and *4303* resulted in five (with the peak of the IS) or three peaks, respectively. Since we already knew, that the derivative of the heptose of *S. sonnei 4303* migrates together with the derivative of the glucose in CE-LIF experiments, it was now obvious, that the heptoses are different from each other. Also in GC-MS experiments the derivatives of D-galactose, D-glucose, DD-heptose and LD-heptose had a relative retention time of 0.91, 0.96, 1.43 and 1.58, respectively, compared to the peracetylated inositol, used as internal standard.



**Figure 23.** GC-MS chromatogram of the mixture of alditol-acetate derivatives of lipid A-free endotoxin from *S. sonnei mutant 562H* and *4303* after hydrolysis and fractionation on a Sephadex G-50 column. (Gal – galactose, Glc – glucose, Ino – inositol (IS), DD-Hep – D-glycero-D-mannoheptose, LD-Hep – L-glycero-D-mannoheptose) Experimental conditions are described in Materials and Methods.



In the case of CE-LIF experiments, identification of the peaks was performed as before; using APTS-derivatized standars for the hexoses and rely on the GC-MS data concerning the heptoses.

**Figure 24.** Capillary zone electrophoresis of the mixture of APTS-labeled lipid A-free endotoxin from *S. sonnei mutant 562H* and *4303* after hydrolysis and fractionation on a Sephadex G-50 column. (DD-Hep – D-glycero-D-mannoheptose, Glc – glucose, LD-Hep – L-glycero-D-mannoheptose, Gal - galactose) Experimental conditions were as in **Figure 15**.

In addition, the mixture of endotoxin hydrolyzates from *S. sonnei R41* and *4303* was examined also, resulting in three (with the peak of the IS) or two peaks, respectively. (results are not shown) In GC-MS, peaks were identified as peracetylated heptoses and the relative retention times of the derivatives of DD-heptose and LD-heptose were 1.43 and 1.58, respectively, compared to the peracetylated inositol, used as internal standard. These numbers are in full conformity with the previous data.

In the CE-LIF experiments, the two examined saccharide derivatives were fully separable from each other, leaving no doubts about the differences in the heptose content of the endotoxins from different *S. sonnei* mutant strains.

## 6. DISCUSSION

Today there is a more and more demanding need to not only know how processes take place, but to understand it at a molecular level, since – like in the case of endotoxins – the structure plays an important role in the function. Thus, it is inevitable to determine the molecular structure and composition of biologically important substances. Nonetheless, it is a challenging task to fulfill even with the already existing methods for complete determination (e.g. MS or NMR), since certain compounds are insoluble hence they are difficult to examine [Caroff and Karibian, 2003]. Therefore, the use of methods, like electrophoresis to identify and also to quantify (the relative amounts) of components from hydrolyzation of oligo- and polysaccharides still have high importance. However, in this case the lack of UV absorptive properties of the sugar molecules gives the necessity of conjugating the sugars with dyes. Nevertheless, the labeling in mixtures might result in unexpected phenomena. This is why, the determination of the appropriate experimental circumstances is a requirement.

It was shown that both, the qualitative and quantitative determination of the sugars in mixtures need a careful optimization. In Figure 8 and 9 we showed that the saccharide-dye conjugates can be successfully separated from each other with a few exceptions. Although, we did not manage to separate ribose, glucose and saccharose from each other, with the help of known standards it was possible to identify the peaks. As Figures 8-12 and Table 2 show, the labeling does not result in the same peak-size of different dye-sugar conjugates. Therefore, a careful determination (calibration) should be performed if the relative amounts of the different components are determined. When the hydrolyzates are labeled the competitive labeling of the components might result different ratios. This competitive effect can be overcome with the use of dye-excess. Another important observation that some sugar components do not form conjugates easily with the dye, makes the picture more complex. The phenomenon that labeling of Nacetylaminosugars produce lower yields of detectable adducts in reductive amination with APTS has been discussed earlier [Evangelista et al., 1996; Chen and Evangelista, 1995], but the use of acidic catalysts to improve labeling has been worked out [Evangelista et al., 1996]. In our study we obtained similar results, although, the labeling of N-acetylaminosugars was still more effective than that of simple aminosugars. Therefore, we tried to improve the labeling efficiency, but the only improvement was when the carbohydrates were labeled in mixture with high dyeexcess, although still with a much lower yield than those of the neutral sugars. This phenomenon needs further studies, since in previous studies this phenomenon was not observed (maybe some

details are not described in details in those studies) [Chen and Evangelista, 1995]. Our suggestion for this phenomenon relies on the differences in the basicity of the amines. Since the aminosugars, containing a primary amino group, are strong bases related to the labeling aryl amine (APTS), the aminosugars 'self-dimerize' via a homocondensation reaction instead of reacting with the amino functionality of the dye. To avoid this undesired side-reaction, acetylation of the aminosugars should be performed or other, amino-group targeting derivatizing agents may be applied. The lower labeling yield of stachyose (a tetrasaccharides) is probably due to its larger size, which might sterically inhibit the labeling. Also, the relatively low yield of fructose-APTS conjugates is probably due to its structural difference compared to the other hexose monosaccharides, since in the open-chain form of carbohydrates the terminal aldehyde-group is more accessible to the derivatizing agent than the interchain-positioned keto-group. Another question, why we did not manage to separate the glucose-conjugate from the ribose- and the saccharose-conjugate, although in previous studies separation of them was obtained [Chen and Evangelista, 1995]. To clarify these results, further studies need to be performed.

*Shigella sonnei* rough mutants *4303*, *R41*, *562H* and *4350* are called isogenic mutants, as they are generated from the same parent strain, *S. sonnei 4303* (phase II). This is confirmed now in this study, where the chemical compositions and structures of the endotoxins extracted from the Gram-negative bacteria were determined by GC-MS, CE-LIF and MALDI-TOF-MS experiments.

Several studies on the structure of the *S. sonnei* core region have been performed previously [Kontrohr and Kocsis, 1978; Romanowska and Mulczyk, 1968; Gamian and Romanowska, 1982], but none of them used capillary electrophoretic or mass spectrometric methods. GC and GC-MS are the usual methods to study monosaccharides due to their quantitativeness and to the reproducible retention times.

In our CE-LIF and GC-MS experiments we have focused on the examination of monosaccharide components and we achieved mutually reinforcing results. However, with the help of CE-LIF it is also possible to analyse APTS-derived oligo- [Wang and Hsieh, 2002; Beaudoin et al., 2005] and polysaccharide chains [Roberts et al., 1998] without hydrolysis, which may provide a specific electrophoretic profile, although this method would not provide information about the composition of the samples.

The CE-LIF and GC-MS experiments helped to confirm the presence of two different heptoses in the four endotoxins, *viz.*, D-glycero-D-mannoheptose were found in *S. sonnei 562H*, and L-

glycero- D-mannoheptose is the constituent of the endotoxins in *S. sonnei R41* and *4303*. Also, D-glucose and D-galactose constituents could be observed during the experiments on the derivatized hydrolyzate from the endotoxin of *S. sonnei 4303*. Although, the determination of the molecular masses with mass-spectrometry allows to deduce the types of monosaccharides, such as hexoses, heptoses, *etc.*, obtained from oligosaccharides but it is not able to distinguish between different isobaric monosaccharides (like the D-glucose or D-galactose or DD-heptose or LD-heptose, etc.).

The use of citric acid in the sample preparation facilitates the disaggregation of the LPS aggregates and contributes to better dissolution of the sample- [Thérisod et al., 2001]. The alkali counterions of the acidic groups were displaced in a rapid desalting step by using cation-exchange resin prior to the MALDI crystallization- [Nordhoff et al., 1992]. Since phosphate and carboxylate groups are present in the LPS, these molecules are easily ionized in negative-ion mode and detected as  $[M - H]^-$  quasimolecular ions.

The mass spectra of MALDI-TOF-MS experiments of the LPSs extracted from the four mutant strains indicate similarities in the lipid A structures (see **Figures 13, 16, 19, 22** and **Tables 3-4**). The fatty acid analysis of the lipid A moieties revealed the presence of two primary fatty acids (C14-OH) and two secondary fatty acids (C14, C12) as in ester-linkage, and two primary C14-OH in amide-linkage to the GlcN residues. Similarly to Bath *et al.* [Bath et al., 1987], we have not found any ethanolamine or phosphodiester linkages in *S. sonnei* lipid A. The heterogeneities in the lipid part (tri-, tetra-, penta-, hexa-acylation) and in the phosphorylation states (ranging from mono- to penta-phosphorylation) found in the mass spectra are due to step-like and incomplete biosynthesis of the LPS [Olsthoorn et al., 1999] or fragmentation processes taking place during the desorption and ionization [Gibson et al., 1997; Lee et al., 2004], or it could be the result of hydrolysis processes during sample preparation, as well.

Besides the quasimolecular [M–H]<sup>–</sup> ions, several abundant ions (originating from the lipid A species, and from the oligosaccharide part of *S. sonnei 4303*) due to the cleavage of the ketosidic bond between the Kdo (the terminal unit of the core oligosaccharide) and the lipid A moiety, were always present in the spectra. Such fragmentation may promptly occur in the ion source [Gibson et al., 1997; Sturiale et al., 2005] yielding either B-type ions (Domon and Costello nomenclature [Domon and Costello, 1988]) related to the oligosaccharide core portion, or Y-type ions corresponding to the lipid A moiety, retaining the glycosidic oxygen in the structure.

Based on MALDI-TOF-MS analysis, *S. sonnei* 4350 is an absolute rough mutant having only two Kdo molecules in its core region (Figure 13, Table 3). A previous work on this strain

[Kocsis and Kontrohr, 1984] reported that *S. sonnei 4350* is a heptose-transferase-less mutant, which means that the pathway of the biosynthesis for the heptose unit (the common sugar units in the deep core regions of endotoxins [Güzlek et al., 2005]) is hindered. This strain can produce both, the ADP-DD-heptose and ADP-LD-heptose (which are the precursors of the core oligosaccharides of endotoxins), but without the heptose-transferase enzyme it cannot build the heptose(s) into its LPS. The structure analyses showed incomplete core regions in the LPSs of the mutants derived from *S. sonnei 4303*. This result was also supported by our CE-LIF and GC-MS results, where no saccharide-derivative was detected.

*S. sonnei* 562*H* LPS has two Kdo residues and one DD-heptose residue in the core (**Figure 16**, **Table 3**). In general, LPS contain LD-Hep, however, GC-MS and CE-LIF (**Figure 14** and **20**) evidence obtained in this study proved that the heptose in *562H* LPS has the DD-Hep configuration. This is in accordance with a previous proposal [Kocsis and Kontrohr, 1984; Kontrohr and Kocsis, 1986] that *S. sonnei 562H* strain can synthesize DD-Hep but it cannot synthesize LD-Hep due to the lack of the ADP-L-glycero-D-mannoheptose 6-epimerase enzyme (a general member in LPS biosynthesis).

The *R41* LPS comprises two Kdos and two heptoses (**Figure 19**, **Table 3**), while there are two Kdos, three heptoses and five hexoses as carbohydrate components in the core of 4303 LPS (**Figure 22**, **Table 4**). Based on the GC-MS and CE-LIF data these latter two strains contain LD-heptoses, which is in full agreement with previous studies [Kontrohr and Kocsis, 1978; Gamian and Romanowska, 1982]. The core structure of the LPS extracted from *S. sonnei 4303* was confirmed by MALDI-TOF-MS/MS experiments on the selected ion at *m/z* 1987 corresponding to the full core moiety [Kilár et al., 2011].

The presence of Kdos could only be detected in the intact LPS analyzed by MALDI-TOF-MS, while no Kdo was detectable in the hydrolyzed core oligosaccharides by GC-MS and CE-LIF. The explanation is, that during mild acid hydrolysis of endotoxins (see Chapter 4.2.2.), the carbohydrate part separates from the lipid A by the cleavage of the glycosidic bond of the Kdo, the reducing terminal residue of the core OS in each endotoxin. In this way, lipid A part of endotoxins remains complete, but the core part is truncated by loosing the Kdo constituents due to various alterations and degradation reactions (besides the cleavage of the ketosidic bond) [Chaby et al., 1993; Wilkinson, 1996; Olsthoorn et al., 1999].

The proposed chemical composition and structural features of the LPSs of the four mutants (*S. sonnei 4350, 562H, R41* and *4303*), in view of previous studies of the structure of the *S. sonnei 4303* (phase II) core region [Kontrohr and Kocsis, 1978; Gamian and Romanowska, 1982], are summarized in **Figure 25**.

The molecular masses of the intact *R*-type LPS containing bis-phosphorylated hexa-acylated lipid A with full core structures, extracted from the mutants of *S. sonnei 4350, 562H, R41* and *4303* are 2.238, 2.430, 2.622, and 3.787 kDa, respectively.



**Figure 25.** The chemical structures of the R-type endotoxins from the isogenic *Shigella sonnei* mutants, according to the present study and previous investigations [Kontrohr and Kocsis, 1978; Gamian and Romanowska, 1982]. The *S. sonnei 562H* mutant LPS contains D-glycero-D-mannoheptose (\*), while *S. sonnei R41* and 4303 LPS contain two or three L-glycero-D-mannoheptoses, respectively (the LD-heptose in the circle is a constituent only in the endotoxin from *S. sonnei 4303*). The 3-linked heptose residues carry pyrophosphate or phosphate groups in *S. sonnei 4303*, and one phosphate group in *S. sonnei R41* LPS. The "O-chain" gives a hint to the S-type *S. sonnei* phase I endotoxin structure. Kdo: 3-deoxy-D-manno-2-octulosonic acid, Hep: heptose, Glc: D–glucose, Gal: D–galactose.

## 7. CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE PROSPECTS

The experimental circumstances for labeling carbohydrates with 8-aminopyrene-1,3,6-trisulfonic acid were studied and the labeling efficiency of mono and oligosaccharides present in endotoxins was followed by capillary electrophoresis using LIF detection. Significant differences were observed in the fluorescent labeling of the different sugar molecules, and the lowest reactivity with the dye was observed in the cases of amino-sugars. The results provided a basis for studies in determining the structures of the core parts of bacterial endotoxins.

The structural variations in the rough-type endotoxins of *Shigella sonnei* mutant strains were investigated by CE-LIF, GC-MS and MALDI-TOF-MS. It was found that the LPS of the *S. sonnei* isogenic rough mutants *4350, 562H, R41* and *4303* were formed in a step-like manner containing no heptose or either L-glycero-D-mannoheptose or D-glycero-D-mannoheptose in the deep core region with a ratio of 0:1:2:3 heptose, respectively. The longest LPS from the mutant *S. sonnei 4303* also contained hexoses, such as glucoses and galactoses in a proportion of approximately 3:2. The structural variations in the lipid A moiety and in the oligosaccharide part of the intact lipopolysaccharide was followed by MALDI-TOF-MS. The detailed evaluation of the mass spectra indicates heterogeneity in the lipid part due to the differences in the phosphate and fatty acyl content. This study provides a comprehensive comparison of the variability in rough endotoxin extracted from *S. sonnei* mutants. We can conclude that the studies to identify and quantify the components of oligo- and polysaccharides need a careful experimental approach.

Theses of the work:

- an effective CE-LIF method was developed for the examination of APTS-labeled carbohydrate mixtures of unknown composition. The methodological problems were studied and labeling efficiency was optimized for carbohydrate mixtures [Bui et al., 2008]

- the carbohydrate components of the core part from isogenic rough mutant *S. sonnei 4350, 562H, R41* and *4303* bacterial strains were separated and identified with the help of the developed CE-LIF method, after hydrolyzation and APTS-derivatization [Bui et al., 2011]

58

- the carbohydrate components of the core part from isogenic rough mutant *S. sonnei 4350, 562H, R41* and *4303* bacterial strains were separated, identified and quantitated with the help of by GC-MS, after hydrolyzation and alditol acetate derivatization [Bui et al., 2011]

- the structure of the core part and the lipid A moiety has been determined for the LPSs of the above mentioned bacterial strains with the help of MALDI-TOF MS. Molecular masses of intact LPSs were determined [Kilár et al., 2011]

- the full composition and structure of intact LPSs from *S. sonnei 4350, 562H, R41* and *4303* were described by combining the results of MALDI-TOF experiments with those achieved from GC-MS and CE-LIF experiments [Bui et al., 2011; Kilár et al., 2011].

Although GC-MS is a widely used method for carbohydrate analysis, after improving the separational efficiency of our CE-LIF method and carefully evaluating the calibration levels, GC-MS method could be eliminated thereby further simplifying the research on LPS molecules. Besides the fact, that less methods are applied, the derivatization for CE-LIF (few hours) takes significantly less time than for GC-MS (few days), laser induced fluorescence detection has also higher sensitivity and in addition, acidic sugars, oligo- and polysaccharides can be also examined by CE-LIF but cannot by GC-MS with the applied derivatization methods.

It is important to know the exact composition of the endotoxin from a certain pathogenic bacterial strain, since serological cross-reactions can be misleading. Our novel capillary electrophoretic method is a fast and very sensitive method for the detection of carbohydrate mixtures obtained from bacterial LPS. Although, this work concerns only R-type bacterial strains, it is possible, in the future, to apply this method together with mass spectrometric experiments, to not only R-, but also to S-type endotoxins, allowing us to determine the fine structure and composition of the O-specific polysaccharide chain from the endotoxin of pathogenic species and to explore the cross-reacting agents. These structural and compositional data are indispensable also for the development of vaccines, since current trends tend toward the design and synthesis of such conjugated vaccines where the non-toxic and non-immunogenic O-specific chain-analogues are attached to proteins to make them immunologically active. Development of such vaccines is crucial because of the increasing prevalence of antibiotic-resistant bacterial strains.

We believe, that our novel capillary electrophoretic method with laser induced fluorescence detection for the detection of carbohydrate mixtures, along with mass spectrometric methods will

be a fast, accurate and highly sensitive method for the description of endotoxins of biologically important bacterial species.

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would first like to thank my supervisor, Prof. Dr. Ferenc Kilár for providing me with an excellent scientific education and for his constant support, and advice and for giving me the possibility to work in his laboratory with such a talented team of researchers. I would also like to thank all members of the Institute of Bioanalysis who have been a joy to work with.

Special thanks to my co-supervisor, Dr. Béla Kocsis whose endless optimism and unfailing enthusiasm for science have taught me what a great scientist should aspire to.

Finally, I'd like to thank my family and friends for their continuous support and encouragement and for their unfailing belief in me. Thank you to all of my friends (I hope you all know who you are). Without you this long journey would have been so lonely!

## LIST OF REFERENCES

- Abbott, J. D., Shannon, R. (1958), A method of typing *Shigella sonnei* using colicine production as a marker, *Journal of Clinical Pathology*, **11**, 71-77.
- Albersheim, P., Nevins, D.J., English, P.D., Karr, A. (1967), A method for the analysis of sugars in plant cell-wall polysaccharides by gas-liquid chromatography, *Carbohydrate Research*, **5** (**3**), 340-345.
- Aminoff, D. (1961), Methods for the quantitative estimation of *N*-acetylneuraminic acid and their application to hydrolysates of sialomucoids, *Biochemical Journal*, **81**, 384-392.
- Aoki, Y. (1968), Colicin type, biochemical type, and drugresistance patterns of *Shigella sonnei* isolated in Japan and its neighboring countries, *Archivum Immunologiae et Therapiae Experimentalis*, **16** (2), 303-313.
- Ashkenazi, S., May-Zahav, M., Dinari, G., Gabbay, U., Zilberberg, R., Samra, Z. (1993), Recent trends in the epidemiology of *Shigella* species in Israel, *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, **17** (5), 897-899.
- Azim, T., Rashid A., Qadri, F., Sarker, M.S., Hamadani, J., Salam, M.A., Wahed, M.A., Albert, M.J. (1999), Antibodies to Shiga toxin in the serum of children with *Shigella*-associated haemolytic uraemic syndrome, *Journal of Medical Microbiology*, 48, 11-16.
- Babu, P., Kuberan, B. (2010), Fluorescent-tagged heparan sulfate precursor oligosaccharides to probe the enzymatic action of heparitinase, *Analytical Biochemistry*, **396** (1), 124-132.
- Basov, N.G., Prokhorov, A.M. (1954), Application for molecular beams to the radio spectroscopic study of the rotational spectrum of molecules, *Zhurnal Eksperimental'noi i Teoreticheskoi Fiziki*, **27**, 249.
- Bath, U.R., Kontrohr, T., Mayer, H. (1987), Structure of *Shigella sonnei* lipid A, *FEMS Microbiology Letters*, **40** (2-3), 189-192.
- Batta, Gy., Lipták, A., Schneerson, R., Pozsgay, V. (1998), Conformational stabilization of the altruronic acid residue in the O-specific polysaccharide of *Shigella sonnei/Plesiomonas shigelloides*, *Carbohydrate Research*, **305** (1), 93-99.
- Beaudoin, M.E., Gauthier, J., Boucher, I., Waldron, K.C. (2005), Capillary electrophoresis separation of a mixture of chitin and chitosan oligosaccharides derivatized using a modified fluorophore conjugation procedure, *Journal of Separation Science*, 28 (12), 1390-8.
- Bennish, M.L., Khan, W.A., Begum, M., Bridges, E.A. Ahmed, S., Saha, D., Salam, M.A., Acheson, D., Ryan, E.T. (2006), Low Risk of Hemolytic Uremic Syndrome after Early Effective Antimicrobial Therapy for *Shigella dysenteriae* Type 1 Infection in Bangladesh, *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, 42, 356-362.
- Bergey, D.H. (1930), Bergey's Manual of Determinative Bacteriology: a key for the identification of organisms of the class *Schizomycetes* (3<sup>rd</sup> ed.), The Williams & Wilkins Company, Baltimore, Maryland, pp 357-363.
- Boivin, A., Mesrobeanu, I., Mesrobeanu, L. (1933), Extraction d'un complexe toxique et antigenique à partir du Bacille d'Aertrycke, Comptes rendus Hebdomadaires des Séances et Mémoires de la Société de Biologie, 114, 307-310.
- Brade, H., Galanos, C., Lüderitz, O. (1983), Differential determination of the 3-deoxy-D-mannooctulosonic acid residues in lipopolysaccharides of *Salmonella minnesota* rough mutants, *European Journal of Biochemistry*, **131**, 195-200.
- Brandenburg, K., Mayer, H., Koch, M.H., Weckesser, J., Rietschel, E.T., Seydel, U. (1993), Influence of the supramolecular structure of free lipid A on its biological activity, *European Journal of Biochemistry*, **218**, 555-563.

- Brown, R.S., Lennon J.J. (1995), Mass resolution improvement by incorporation of pulsed ion extraction in a Matrix-Assisted Laser Desorption/Ionization linear Time-of-Flight mass spectrometer, *Analytical Chemistry*, **67** (**13**), 1998-2003.
- Brunton, N.P., Gormley, T.R., Murray, B. (2007), Use of the alditol acetate derivatisation for the analysis of reducing sugars in potato tubers, *Food Chemistry*, **104**, 398-402.
- Bui, A., Kilár, A., Dörnyei, Á., Poór, V., Kovács, K., Kocsis, B., Kilár, F. (2011), Carbohydrate composition of endotoxins from R-type isogenic mutants of *Shigella sonnei* studied by capillary electrophoresis and GC-MS, *Croatica Chemica Acta*, 84 (3), 393-398.
- Bui, A., Kocsis, B., Kilár, F. (2008), Methodology to label mixed carbohydrate components by APTS, Journal of Biochemical and Biophysical Methods, 70 (6), 1313-1316.
- Caroff, M.G.L., Karibian, D. (1990), Several uses for isobutyric acid-ammonium hydroxide solvent in endotoxin analysis, *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, **56** (6), 1957-1959.
- Caroff, M., Karibian, D. (2003), Structure of bacterial lipopolysaccharides, Carbohydrate Research, 338 (23), 2431-2447.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (2006), *Shigella* Surveillance: Annual Summary, Atlanta, Georgia, US Department of Health and Human Services
- Chaby, R., Charon, D., Caroff, M., Sarfati, S.R., Trigalo, F. (1993), Estimation of 3-deoxy-D-manno-2-octulosonic acid in lipopolysaccharides: an unsolved problem, in: Whistler, R.L., BeMiller, J.N., Shaw, D.H. (eds.), *Methods in Carbohydrate Chemistry, Lipopolysaccharides. Separation and analysis. Gycosylated polymers*, 9, 33, E-Publishing, New York.
- Charlwood, J., Birrell, H., Grible, A., Burdes, V., Tolson, D., Camilleri, P. (2000), A probe for the versatile analysis and characterization of N-linked oligosaccharides, *Analytical Chemistry*, **72** (**7**), 1453–1461.
- Chen, F.T.A., Evangelista, R.A. (1995), Analysis of mono- and oligosaccharide isomers derivatized with 9-aminopyrene-1,4,6-trisulfonate by capillary electrophoresis with Laser-Induced Fluorescence, *Analytical Biochemistry*, **230** (2), 273-280.
- Chen, H.-M., Zheng, L., Yan, X.-J. (2005), The preparation and bioactivity research of agaro-oligosaccharides, *Food Technology and Biotechnology*, **43** (1), 29-36.
- Chen, J., He, L., Abo, M., Zhang, J., Sato, K., Okubo, A. (2009), Influence of borate complexation on the electrophoretic behavior of 2-AA derivatized saccharides in capillary electrophoresis, *Carbohydrate Research*, **344** (9), 1141-1145.
- Chen, X., Jiang, Z.-H., Chen, S., Qin, W. (2010), Microbial and bioconversion production of D-xylitol and its detection and application, *International Journal of Biological Sciences*, **6** (7), 834-844.
- Chizhikov, V., Rasooly, A., Chumakov, K., Levy, D.D. (2001), Microarray analysis of microbial virulence factors, *Applied* and Environmental Microbiology, **67** (7), 3258-3263.
- Coetzee, J.N. (1959), The late lactose-fermenting property of *Shigella sonnei*, *South African Journal of Laboratory and Clinical Medicine*, **5**, 170-179.
- Corsaro, A., Chiacchio, U., Pistara, V., Romeo, G. (2004), Microwave-assisted chemistry of carbohydrates, *Current Organic Chemistry*, **8** (6), 511-538.
- Cortacero-Ramírez, S., Segura-Carretero, S., Cruces-Blanco, C., Hernáinz-Bermúdez de Castro, M., Fernández-Gutiérrez A. (2004), Analysis of carbohydrates in beverages by capillary electrophoresis with precolumn derivatization and UV detection, *Food Chemistry*, **87**, 471-476.

Couderc F., Nertz M., Nouadje G. (1997), Laser-induced fluorescence detector having a capillary detection cell and method for identifying trace compounds implemented by the same device, US Patent No. 5926271, Appl. No. 08/982,256.

Cruickshank, R. (1960), Laboratory uses of antibiotics, British Medical Bulletin, 16 (1), 79-81.

- Daneshian, M., Guenther, A., Wendel, A., Hartung, T., von Aulock, S. (2006), In vitro pyrogen test for toxic or immunomodulatory drugs, *Journal of Immunological Methods*, **313**, 169-175.
- Dell, A. (1990), Preparation and desorption mass spectrometry of permethyl and peracetyl derivatives of oligosaccharides, *Methods in Enzymology*, **193**, 647-660.
- Delmas, F., Seveno, M., Northey, J.G.B., Hernould, M., Lerouge, P., McCourt, P., Chevalier, C. (2008), The synthesis of the rhamnogalacturonan II component 3-deoxy-D-manno-2-octulosonic acid (Kdo) is required for pollen tube growth and elongation, *Journal of Experimental Botany*, **59** (10), 2639-2647.
- Dobrovolskaia, M.A., Neun, B.W., Clogston, J.D., Ding, H., Ljubimova, J., McNeil, S.E. (2010), Ambiguities in applying traditional *Limulus* amebocyte lysate tests to quantify endotoxin in nanoparticle formulations, *Nanomedicine*, **5** (4), 555-562.
- Domon, B., Costello, C.E. (1988), A systematic nomenclature for carbohydrate fragmentations in FAB-MS/MS spectra of glycoconjugates, *Glycoconjugate Journal*, **5** (4), 397-409.
- Donohue-Rolfe, A., Kelley, M.A., Bennish, M., Keusch, G.T. (1986), Enzyme-Linked Immunosorbent Assay for *Shigella* toxin, *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, **24** (1), 65-68.
- Drews, S.J., Lau, C., Andersen, M., Ferrato, C., Simmonds K., Stafford, L., Fisher, B., Everett, D., Louie, M. (2010), Laboratory based surveillance of travel-related *Shigella sonnei* and *Shigella flexneri* in Alberta from 2002 to 2007, *Globalization and Health*, **6**, 20-25.
- Dubois, M., Gilles, K., Hamilton, J., Rebers, P.A., Smith, F. (1956), Colorimetric Method for Determination of Sugars and Related Substances, *Analytical Chemistry*, **28** (**3**), 350-356.
- Dutta, S., Chatterjee, A., Dutta, P., Rajendran, K., Roy, S., Pramanik, K.C., Bhattacharya, S.K. (2001), Sensitivity and performance characteristics of a direct PCR with stool samples in comparison to conventional techniques for diagnosis of *Shigella* and enteroinvasive *Escherichia coli* infection in children with acute diarrhoea in Calcutta, India, *Journal of Medical Microbiology*, **50** (8), 667-674.
- Dzieciatkowska, M., Schweda, E.K.H., Moxon, E.R., Richards, J.C., Li, J. (2008), Characterization of intact lipopolysaccharides from the *Haemophilus influenzae* strain *RM 118* using electrophoresis-assisted open-tubular liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry, *Electrophoresis*, **29**, 2171-2181.
- Einstein, A. (1916a), Strahlungs-emission und -absorption nach der Quantentheorie, Verhandlungen der Deutschen Physikalischen Gesellschaft, 18 (13/14), 318-323.
- Einstein, A. (1916b), Zur Quantentheorie der Strahlung, Mitteilungen der Physikalische Gesellschaft Zürich, 16, 47-62.
- Einstein, A. (1917), Zur Quantentheorie der Strahlung, Physikalische Zeitschrift 18 (5), 121-128.
- Eisele, B., Lamy, M., Thijs, L.G., Keinecke, H.O., Schuster, H.P., Matthias, F.R., Fourrier, E., Heinrichs, H., Delvos, U. (1998), Antithrombin III in patients with severe sepsis, A randomized, placebo-controlled, double-blind multicenter trial plus a meta-analysis on all randomized, placebo-controlled, double-blind trials with antithrombin III in severe sepsis, *Intensive Care Medicine*, **24** (7), 663-672.
- El Rassi, Z. (1996) High Performance Capillary Electrophoresis of Carbohydrates, Part Number 725036, Beckman Instruments, Fullerton CA, USA
- Elek, S.D., Davies, J.R., Miles, R. (1973), Resistotyping of Shigella sonnei, Journal of Medical Microbiology, 6, 329-345.

- Erny, G.L., Marina, M.L., Cifuentes, A. (2007), Reproducible and efficient separation of aggregatable zein proteins by CZE using a volatile background electrolyte, *Electrophoresis*, **28** (**17**), 2988-2997.
- Evangelista, R.A., Guttman, A., Chen, F.T.A. (1996), Acid-catalyzed reductive amination of aldoses with 8-aminopyrene-1,3,6-trisulfonate, *Electrophoresis*, **17**, 347-351.
- Everaerts, F.M., Verheggen, T.P.E.M. (1970), Isotachophoresis : Electrophoretic analysis in capillaries, *Journal of Chromatography A*, **53** (2), 315-328.
- Ewing, W.H.(1949), Shigella nomenclature, Journal of Bacteriology, 57 (6), 633-638.
- Farrant, W.H., Tomlinson, A.J.H. (1966), Some studies on the epidemiology of Sonne dysentery. Changes in colicin type and antibiotic resistance between 1956 and 1965, *International Journal of Hygiene and Environmental Health*, **64**, 287-303.

Feng, P. (2001), Rapid Methods for Detecting Foodborne Pathogens, FDA Archived BAM Method

Flexner, S. (1900), On the etiology of tropical dysentery, Bulletin of the Johns Hopkins Hospital, 11, 231-242.

- Fomsgaard, A., Freudenberg, M.A., Galanos, C. (1990), Modification of the silver staining technique to detect lipopolysaccharide in polyacrylamide gels, *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, **28** (**12**), 2627-2631.
- Foster, D.M., Derzko, A.N., Keffer, J.H. (2004a), Can sepsis be better defined? Contribution of a novel assay for endotoxin, *Clinical Microbiology Newsletter*, **26** (3), 17-21.
- Foster, D.M., Derzko, A.N., Romaschin, A.D. (2004b), A novel method for rapid detection of human endotoxemia, *Clinical Laboratory International*
- Fűzfai, Z., Boldizsár, I., Molnár-Perl, I. (2008), Characteristic fragmentation patterns of the trimethylsilyl and trimethylsilyloxime derivatives of various saccharides as obtained by gas chromatography coupled to ion-trap mass spectrometry, *Journal of Chromatography A*, **1177** (1), 183-189.
- Galanos, C., Lüderitz, O., Westphal, O. (1969), A new method for the extraction of *R* lipopolysaccharides, *European Journal* of *Biochemistry*, **9** (2), 245-249.
- Gamian, A., Romanowska, E. (1982), The core structure of *Shigella sonnei* lipopolysaccharide and the linkage between O-specific polysaccharide and the core region, *European Journal of Biochemistry*, **129** (1), 105-109.
- Gao, F., Tie, C., Zhang, X.-X., Niu, Z., He, X., Yuguo Ma, Y. (2011), Star-shaped polymers for DNA sequencing by capillary electrophoresis, *Journal of Chromatography A*, **1218**, 3037–3041.
- Gaston, J.S.H. (2005), Shigella induced reactive arthritis, Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases, 64, 517-518.
- Gibson, B.W., Engstrom, J.J., John, C.M., Hines, W., Falick, A.M. (1997), Characterization of bacterial lipooligosaccharides by delayed extraction matrix-assisted laser desorption ionization time-of-flight mass spectrometry, *Journal of the American Society for Mass Spectrometry*, 8 (6), 645-658.
- Goebel, W.F., Binkley, F., Perlman, E. (1945), Studies on the flexner group of dysentery bacilli I. The specific antigens of *Shigella paradysenteriae (Flexner), Journal of Experimental Medicine*, **81** (4), 315-330.
- Gohlke, R.S. (1959), Time-of-flight mass spectrometry and gas-liquid partition chromatography, *Analytical Chemistry*, **31** (4), 535-541.
- Gohlke, R; McLafferty, F.W. (1993), Early gas chromatography/mass spectrometry, *Journal of the American Society for Mass Spectrometry*, **4** (5), 367-371.
- González-Pérez, M., Milori, D.M.B.P., Colnago, L.A., Martin-Neto, L., Melo, W.J. (2007), A laser-induced fluorescence spectroscopic study of organic matter in a Brazilian Oxisol under different tillage systems, *Geoderma*, **138**, 20-24.
- Good, A.E. (1979), Shigellae and Reiter's syndrome, Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases, 38 (Suppl 1), S119-122.

Gorbet, M.B., Sefton, M.V. (2005), Endotoxin: The uninvited guest, Biomaterials, 26, 6811-6817.

- Gordon, J.P, Zeiger, H.J., Townes, C.H. (1954), Molecular microwave oscillator and new hyperfine structure in the microwave spectrum of NH<sub>3</sub>, *Physical Review*, **95** (1), 282-284.
- Gould, R.G. (1959), The LASER, Light Amplification by Stimulated Emission of Radiation in *The Ann Arbor Conference on Optical Pumping, the University of Michigan, June 15 18, 1959.* (Franken, P.A., Sands, R.H. eds.), pp 128.
- Gram, H.C. (1884), Über die isolierte Färbung der Schizomyceten in Schnitt- und Trockenpräparaten, Fortschritte der Medizin, 2, 185–189.
- Güzlek, H., Graziani, A., Kosma, P. (2005), A short synthesis of D-glycero-D-manno-heptose 7-phosphate, *Carbohydrate Research*, **340** (**18**), 2808-2811.
- Hale, T.L. (1991), Genetic basis of virulence in *Shigella* species, *Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews*, **55** (2), 206-224.
- Hammarström, E. (1949), Phage typing of Shigella sonnei, Acta Medica Scandinavica, 133 (223), 1-132.
- Hannu, T., Mattila, L., Siitonen, A., Leirisalo-Repo, M. (2005), Reactive arthritis attributable to *Shigella* infection: a clinical and epidemiological nationwide study, *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases*, **64**, 594-598.
- Hartung, T., Wendel, A. (1996), Detection of pyrogens using human whole blood, In vitro Toxicology, 9, 353-359.
- Helgason, S., Old, D.C. (1981), Comparison of four methods of differential typing of isolates of *Shigella sonnei*, *Journal of Hygiene*, *Cambridge*, **87** (3), 339-355.
- Hjertén, S. (1958), Free Zone Electrophoresis, Preliminary note, Arkiv för Kemi, 13, 151-152.

Hjertén, S. (1967), Free Zone Electrophoresis, Chromatographic Reviews, 9, 122-219.

- Hjertén, S., Elenbring, K., Kilár, F., Liao, J.L., Chen, A.J., Siebert, C.J., Zhu, M.D. (1987a), Carrier-free zone electrophoresis, displacement electrophoresis and isoelectric focusing in a high-performance electrophoresis apparatus, *Journal of Chromatography A*, **403**, 47-61.
- Hjertén, S., Liao, J.L., Yao, K.Q. (1987b), Theoretical and experimental study of high-performance electrophoretic mobilization of isoelectrically focused protein zones, *Journal of Chromatography A*, **387**, 127-138.
- Hoffmann, S., Peterbauer, A., Schindler, S., Fennrich, S., Poole, S., Mistry, Y., Montag-Lessing, T., Spreitzer, I., Löschner, B., van Aalderen, M., Bos, R., Gommer, M., Nibbeling, R., Werner-Felmayer, G., Loitzl, P., Jungi, T., Brcic, M., Brügger, P., Frey, E., Bowe, G., Casado, J., Coecke, S., de Lange, J., Mogster, B., Naess, L.M., Aaberge, I.S., Wendel, A., Hartung, T. (2005), International validation of novel pyrogen tests based on the human monocytoid cells. *Journal of Immunology Methods*, 298, 161-173.
- Honda, S., Yamauchi, N., Kakehi, K., (1979), Rapid gas chromatographic analysis of aldoses as their diethyl dithioacetal trimethylsilylates, *Journal of Chromatography A*, **169**, 287-293.
- Honig, R.E., Woolston, R.J. (1963), Laser induced emission of electrons, ions, and neutral atoms from solid surfaces, *Applied Physics Letters*, **2**, 138-141.
- Horák V., (1994), Seventy colicin types of *Shigella sonnei* and an indicator system for their determination, *Zentralblatt für Bakteriologie*, **281** (1), 24-29.
- Huang, G.L. (2008), Optimization of fluorophore-assisted carbohydrate electrophoresis, *Zeitschrift fur Naturforschung C*, **63** (**7-8**), 612-614.
- Ikeda, T., Ikeda, K., Taniuchi, H., Hiramatsu, M., Suda, S. (2010), New sepsis-related marker: endotoxin activity assay, *Critical Care*, **14** (Suppl2), P12.

- Ingersoll, M., Groisman, E.A., Zychlinsky, A. (2002), Pathogenicity islands of *Shigella*, *Current topics in microbiology and immunology*, **264** (1), 49-65.
- Isidorov, V.A., Szczepaniak, L. (2009), Gas chromatographic retention indices of biologically and environmentally important organic compounds on capillary columns with low-polar stationary phases, *Journal of Chromatography*, **1216** (**51**), 8998-9007.
- Islam, M.S., Hasan, M.K., Miah, M.A., Sur, G.C., Felsenstein, A., Venkatesan, M., Sack, R.B., Albert M.J. (1993), Use of the polymerase chain reaction and fluorescent-antibody methods for detecting viable but nonculturable *Shigella dysenteriae* type 1 in laboratory microcosms, *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, **59** (2), 536-540.
- Jain, S.K., Gupta, A., Glanz, B., Dick, J., Siberry, G.K. (2005), Antimicrobial-resistant *Shigella sonnei*: limited antimicrobial treatment options for children and challenges of interpreting in vitro azithromycin susceptibility, *The Pediatric Infectious Disease Journal*, 24 (6), 494-497.
- Jansson, P., Lindberg, A.A., Lindberg, B., Wollin R. (1981), Structural studies on the hexose region of the core in lipopolysaccharides from *Enterobacteriaceae*, *European Journal of Biochemistry*, **115** (3), 571 -577.
- Johansson, G., Ofverstedt, L.G., Hjertén, S. (1987), Preparative displacement electrophoresis (isotachophoresis) of proteins on cellulose columns, *Analytical Biochemistry*, **166(2)**, 267-275.
- John, C.M., Liu, M., Jarvis, G.A. (2009), Profiles of structural heterogeneity in native lipooligosaccharides of *Neisseria* and cytokine induction, *Journal of Lipid Research*, **50**, 424-438.
- Johnson, I., Spence, M.T.Z. (eds.) (2010), The Molecular Probes Handbook 11<sup>th</sup> Edition, A Guide to Fluorescent Probes and Labeling Technologies, Life Technologies
- Jorgensen, J.H., Smith, R.F. (1973), Preparation, sensitivity, and specificity of *Limulus* lysate for endotoxin assay, *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, **26** (1), 43-48.
- Jorgenson, J.W., Lukacs, K.D. (1981), Zone electrophoresis in open-tubular glass capillaries, *Analytical Chemistry*, **53**, 1298-1302.
- Jorgenson, J.W., Lukacs, K.D. (1983), Capillary zone electrophoresis, Science, 222 (4621), 266-272.
- Kakehi, K., Suzuki, S., Honda, S., Lee, Y.C. (1991), Precolumn labeling of reducing carbohydrates with 1-(paramethoxy)phenyl-3-methyl-5-pyrazolone - analysis of neutral and sialic acid-containing oligosaccharides found in glycoproteins, *Analytical Biochemistry*, **199**, 256-268.
- Kakinuma, K., Fukushima, M., Kawaguchi, R. (2003), Detection and identification of *Escherichia coli, Shigella*, and *Salmonella* by microarrays using the gyrB gene, *Biotechnology and Bioengineering*, **83** (6), 721-728.
- Kampelmacher, E.H. (1959), On antigenic O-relationships between the groups *Salmonella, Arizona, Escherichia* and *Shigella, Antonie van Leeuwenhoek*, **25** (1), 289-324.
- Karas, M., Bachmann, D., Hillenkamp, F. (1985), Influence of the wavelength in highirradiance ultraviolet laser desorption mass spectrometry of organic molecules, *Analytical Chemistry*, **57**, 2935-2939.
- Karataeva, N.A., Gorbunov, D., Prokudin, I.V., Buneva, V.N., Kulminskaya, A.A., Neustroev, K.N., Nevinsky, G.A. (2006), Human milk antibodies with polysaccharide kinase activity, *Immunology Letters*, **103**, 58–67.
- Kauffmann, F. (1954), Enterobacteriaceae, 2nd ed., Copenhagen, Munksgaard
- Kenne, L., Lindberg, B., Petersson, K., Katzenellenbogen, E., Romanowska, E. (1980), Structural studies of the O-specific side-chains of the *Shigella sonnei* phase I lipopolysaccharide, *Carbohydrate Research*, **78** (1), 119-126.
- Khandurina, J., Guttman, A. (2005), High resolution capillary electrophoresis of oligosaccharide structural isomers, *Chromatographia*, **62**, S37-S41.

- Kilár, A., Dörnyei, Á., Bui, A., Szabó, Z., Kocsis, B., Kilár, F. (2011), Structural variability of endotoxins from *R*-type isogenic mutants of *Shigella sonnei*, *Journal of Mass Spectrometry*, **46** (1), 61-70.
- Kim, J.S., Laskowich, E.R., Arumugham, R.G., Kaiser, R.E., MacMichael, G.J. (2005), Determination of saccharide content in pneumococcal polysaccharides and conjugate vaccines by GC-MSD, *Analytical Biochemistry*, **347** (2), 262-274.
- Klockow, A., Amadò, R., Widmer, H.M., Paulus, A. (1995), Separation of 8-aminonapthalene-1,3,6-trisulfonic acid-labelled neutral and sialylated N-linked complex oligosaccharides by capillary electrophoresis, *Journal of Chromatography A*, 716 (1-2), 241-257.
- Knox, J.H., Grant, I.H. (1987), Miniaturisation in pressure and electroendosmotically driven liquid chromatography: Some theoretical considerations, *Chromatographia*, **24** (1), 135-143.
- Koch, R. (1876), Untersuchungen über Bakterien: V. Die Ätiologie der Milzbrand-Krankheit, begründet auf die Entwicklungsgeschichte des *Bacillus anthracis*, *Beiträge zur Biologie der Pflanzen* **2** (2), 277-310.
- Koch, R. (1882), Die Ätiologie der Tuberculose. (Nach einem in der Physiologischen Gesellschaft zu Berlin am 24. März 1882 gehalten Vortrage), *Berliner klinische Wochenschrift*, **19** (**15**), 221-230.
- Koch, R. (1884), Über die Cholerabakterien, Deutsche medizinische Wochenschrift, 10, 725-728.
- Kocsis, B. (1991), A bakteriális lipopoliszacharidák heptóz régiójának bioszintézise, Kandidátusi értekezés
- Kocsis, B., Kontrohr, T. (1984), Isolation of adenosine-5'-diphosphate-L-glycero-D-mannoheptose, the assumed substrate of heptose transferase(s), from *S. minnesota R595* and *S. sonnei Re* mutants, *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, **259** (19), 11858-11860.
- Kohlrausch, F. (1897), Über Concentrations Verschiebungen durch Electrolyse im Inneren von Lösungen und Lösungsgemischen, *Annalen der Physik und Chemie*, **298** (10), 209-239.
- Kojima, H., Inagaki, M., Tomita, T., Watanabe, T., Uchida, S. (2009), Separation and characterization of lipopolysaccharide related compounds by HPLC/post-column fluorescence derivatization (HPLC/FLD) and capillary zone electrophoresis/mass spectrometry (CZE/MS), *Journal of Chromatography B*, **877**, 1537-1542.
- Kontrohr, T. (1977), The identification of 2-amino-2-deoxy-L-altruronic acid as a constituent of *Shigella sonnei* phase I lipopolysaccharide, *Carbohydrate Research*, **58**, 498-500.
- Kontrohr, T., Kocsis, B. (1978), Structure of the hexose region of *Shigella sonnei* phase II lipopolysaccharide with 3-deoxy-D-mannooctulosonic acid as possible immunodeterminant and its relation to *Escherichia coli* R1 core, *European Journal of Biochemistry*, 88, 267-273.
- Kontrohr, T., Kocsis, B. (1981), Isolation of adenosine 5'-diphosphate-D-glycero-D-mannoheptose an intermediate in lipopolysaccharide biosynthesis of *Shigella sonnei, Journal of Biological Chemistry*, **256** (**15**), 7715-7718.
- Kontrohr, T., Kocsis, B. (1986), Separation and quantification of ADP-D-glycero-D-mannoheptose and ADP-L-glycero-D-mannoheptose by borate liquid chromatography and its use in the assay of ADP-D-glycero-D-mannoheptose 6-epimerase, *Journal of Chromatography*, **354**, 417-423.
- Kothary, M.H., Babu, U. (2001), Infective dose of foodborne pathogens in volunteers: A review, *Journal of Food Safety*, **21**, 49-73.
- Kotloff, K.L., Winickoff, J.P., Ivanoff, B., Clemens, J.D., Swerdlow, D.L., Sansonetti, P.J., Adak, G.K., Levine, M.M. (1999), Global burden of *Shigella* infections: implications for vaccine development and implementation of control strategies, *Bulletin of the World Health Organization*, **77** (8), 651.
- Kubalczyk, P., Bald, E. (2009), Analysis of orange juice for total cysteine and glutathione content by CZE with UVabsorption detection, *Electrophoresis*, **30**, 2280-2283.

- Lamari, F.N., Kuhn, R., Karamanos, N.K. (2003), Derivatization of carbohydrates for chromatographic, electrophoretic and mass spectrometric structure analysis, *Journal of Chromatography B*, **793** (1), 15-36.
- Lamb, D.H., Lei, Q.P., Hakim, N., Rizzo, S., Cash, P. (2005), Determination of meningococcal polysaccharides by capillary zone electrophoresis, *Analytical Biochemistry*, **338** (2), 263-269.
- Larocque, S., Brisson, J.-R., Thérisod, H., Perry, M.B., Martine Caroff, M. (2003), Structural characterization of the O-chain polysaccharide isolated from *Bordetella avium ATCC 5086*: variation on a theme, *FEBS Letters*, **535**, 11-16.
- László, V.G., Kerekes, L. (1969), Phage and colicin typing of *Shigella sonnei*, *Acta microbiologica Academiae Scientiarum Hungaricae*, **16**, 309-317.
- Laville, S., Goueguel, C., Loudyi, H., Vidal, F., Chaker, M., Sabsabi, M. (2009), Laser-induced fluorescence detection of lead atoms in a laser-induced plasma: An experimental analytical optimization study, *Spectrochimica Acta Part* B, 64 (4), 347-353.
- Lee, C.S., Kim, Y.G., Joo, H.S., Kim, B.G. (2004), Structural analysis of lipid A from *Escherichia coli O157:H7:K*<sup>-</sup> using thin-layer chromatography and ion-trap mass spectrometry, *Journal of Mass Spectrometry*, **39** (5), 514-525.
- Leeuwenhoek, A. (1700), Part of a letter from Mr Antony van Leeuwenhoek, concerning the worms in sheeps livers, gnats, and animalcula in the excrements of frogs, *Philosophical Transactions (1683–1775)*, **22 (260-276)**, 509–518.
- Leeuwenhoek, A. (1702), Part of a letter from Mr Antony van Leeuwenhoek, F. R. S. concerning green weeds growing in water, and some animalcula found about them, *Philosophical Transactions (1683–1775)*, **23 (277-288)**, 1304–1311.
- Lehman, D.H. (1977), Postdysenteric Reiter's syndrome, The Western Journal of Medicine, 126, 405-407.
- Levin, J., Tomasulo, P. A., Oser, R.S. (1970), Detection of endotoxin in human blood and demonstration of an inhibitor, *Journal of Laboratory and Clinical Medicine*, **75**, 903-911.
- Li, J., Thibault, P., Martin, A., Richards, J.C., Wakarchuk, W.W., Van der Wilp, W. (1998), Development of an on-line preconcentration method for the analysis of pathogenic lipopolysaccharides using capillary electrophoresiselectrospray mass spectrometry. Application to small colony isolates, *Journal of Chromatography A*, 817, 325-336.
- Li, N., Nguyen, A., Diedrich, J., Zhong, W. (2008), Separation of miRNA and its methylation products by capillary electrophoresis, *Journal of Chromatography A*, **1202** (2), 220-223.
- Li, X.-T., Jia, L., Wu, J. (2006), The safety observation for fs oral bivalent live vaccine capsule of dysentery, *Modern Preventive Medicine*, **33 (2)**, 181-182
- Liang, S., Schneider, R.J. (2009), Capillary zone electrophoresis of Cowpea mosaic virus and peak identification, *Electrophoresis*, **30** (9), 1572–1578.
- Linnerborg, M., Weintraub, A., Widmalm, G. (1999), Structural studies of the O-antigen polysaccharide from the enteroinvasive Escherichia coli O164 cross-reacting with *Shigella dysenteriae* type 3, *European Journal of Biochemistry*, **266**, 460–466.
- Liu, Q., Liu, Y., Guan, Y., Jia, L. (2009), Comparison of field-enhanced and pressure-assisted field-enhanced sample injection techniques for the analysis of water-soluble vitamins using CZE, *Journal of Separation Science*, **32** (7), 1011-1017.
- Lluveras, A., Bonaduce, I., Andreotti, A., Colombini, MP. (2010), GC/MS analytical procedure for the characterization of glycerolipids, natural waxes, terpenoid resins, proteinaceous and polysaccharide materials in the same paint microsample avoiding interferences from inorganic media, *Analytical Chemistry*, 82(1), 376-386.
- Ługowski, C., Romanowska, E. (1974), Chemical studies on *Shigella sonnei* lipid A, *European Journal of Biochemistry*, 48 (2), 319-323.

Maiman, T.H. (1960), Stimulated optical radiation in ruby, Nature, 187 (4736), 493-4.

- Mamat, U., Schmidt, H., Munoz, E., Lindner, B., Fukase, K., Hanuszkiewicz, A., Wu, J., Meredith, T.C., Woodard, R.W., Hilgenfeld, R., Mesters, J.R., Holst, O. (2009), WaaA of the hyperthermophilic bacterium *Aquifex aeolicus* is a monofunctional 3-deoxy-D-manno-oct-2-ulosonic acid transferase involved in lipopolysaccharide biosynthesis, *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, **284** (**33**), 22248-22262.
- Mansfield, S.D., Mooney, C., Saddler, J.N. (1999), Substrate and enzyme characteristics that limit cellulose hydrolysis, *Biotechnology Progress*, **15** (**5**), 804-816.
- Marshall, J.C., Walker, P.M., Foster, D.M., Harris, D., Ribeiro, M., Paice, J., Romaschin, A.D., Derzko, A.N. (2002), Measurement of endotoxin activity in critically ill patients using whole blood neutrophil dependent chemiluminescence, *Critical Care*, **6** (**4**), 342-348.
- Matsumoto, M., Suzuki, Y., Saito, M., Ishikawa, N., Ohta, M. (1998), Epidemiologic study of *Shigella sonnei* from sequential outbreaks and sporadic cases using different typing techniques, *Microbiology and Immunology*, 42 (4), 259-264.
- Mayr-Harting, A. (1952), The phage typing of *Shigella sonnei*, and the limits of type stability, *Journal of General Microbiology*, **7**, 382-396.
- McRae, G., Monreal, C.M. (2011), LC-MS/MS quantitative analysis of reducing carbohydrates in soil solutions extracted from crop rhizospheres, *Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry*, **400**, 2205-2215.
- Morgan, W.T.J. (1937), Studies in immuno-chemistry. II. The isolation and properties of a specific antigenic substance from *B. dysenterias (Shiga), Biochemical Journal*, **31 (11)**, 2003-2021.
  - Morris, G.K., Wells, J.G. (1974), Colicin typing of Shigella sonnei, Applied Microbiology, 27 (2), 312-316.
- Nakagawa, Y., Maeda, H., Murai, T. (2002), Evaluation of the in vitro pyrogen test system based on proinflammatory cytokine release from human monocytes: comparison with a human whole blood culture test system and with the rabbit pyrogen test, *Clinical and Diagnostic Laboratory Immunology*, **9** (3), 588-597.
- Navia, M.M., Capitano, L., Ruiz, J., Vargas, M., Urassa, H., Schellemberg, D., Gascon, J., Vila, J. (1999), Typing and characterization of mechanisms of resistance of *Shigella spp*. isolated from feces of children under 5 years of age from Ifakara, Tanzania, *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, **37** (10), 3113-3117.
- Niyogi, S.K. (2005), Shigellosis, Journal of Microbiology, 43 (2), 133-143.
- Nordhoff, E., Ingendoh, A., Cramer, R., Overberg, A., Stahl, B., Karas, M., Hillenkamp, F., Crain, P. F. (1992), Matrixassisted laser desorption/ionization mass spectrometry of nucleic acids with wavelengths in the ultraviolet and infrared, *Rapid Communications in Mass Spectrometry*, **6** (12), 771-776.
- Oefner, P.J., Vorndran, A.E., Grill, E., Huber, C., Bonn, G.K. (1992), Capillary zone electrophoretic analysis of carbohydrates by direct and indirect UV detection, *Chromatographia*, **34** (**5-8**), 308-316.
- Okun, V.M., Ronacher, B., Blaas, D., Kenndler, E. (1999), Analysis of common cold virus (human rhinovirus serotype 2) by capillary zone electrophoresis: the problem of peak identification, *Analytical Chemistry*, **71**, 2028–2032.
- Old, D.C., Helgason S., Scott A.C. (1981), Discrimination by multiple typing of isolates of *Shigella sonnei* in Dundee (1971-6), *Journal of Hygiene, Cambridge*, **87** (3), 357-368.
- Olsthoorn, M.M.A., Haverkamp, J. Thomas-Oates, J.E. (1999), Mass spectrometric analysis of *Klebsiella pneumoniae ssp. Pneumoniae* rough strain *R20 (O1-:K20-)* lipopolysaccharide preparations identification of novel core oligosaccharide components and three 3-deoxy-D-manno-oct-2-ulopyranosonic artifacts, *Journal of Mass Spectrometry*, **34**, 622-636.

- Országos Epidemiológiai Központ (2010), Az országos epidemiológiai központ tájékoztatója a 2010. Július havi fertőző megbetegedésekről, *Epinfo*, **17 (37)**, 457-464.
- Osborn, M.J. (1966), Isolation of phage-resistant mutants of *Salmonella typhimurium*, in: Neufeld, E.F., Ginsburg, V. (eds.), *Methods in Enzymology Complex Carbohydrates*, **8**, 152-161, Academic Press.
- Painter, G.F., Falshaw, A., Wong, H. (2004), Conformation inversion of an inositol derivative by use of silyl ethers: a modified route to 3,6-di-O-substituted-L-ido-tetrahydroxyazepane derivatives, *Organic and Biomolecular Chemistry*, 2 (7), 1007-1012.
- Pascu, M.L., Moise, N., Staicu, A. (2001), Tunable dye laser applications in environment pollution monitoring, *Journal of Molecular Structure*, **598** (1), 57-64.
- Pasteur, L. (1880), De l'extension de la théorie des germes à l'étiologie de quelques maladies communes (I. Sur les furoncles.
  II. Sur l'ostéomyélite. III. Sur la fièvre puerpérale.), *Comptes rendus hebdomadaires des séances de l'Académie des sciences*, **90**, 1033-1044.
- Peatciyammal, N., Balachandar, B., Kumar, M.D., Tamilarasan, K., Muthukumaran, C. (2010), Statistical optimization of enzymatic hydrolysis of potato (*Solanum tuberosum*) starch by immobilized α-amylase, *International Journal of Chemical and Biological Engineering*, **3** (**3**), 124-128.
- Pennamareddy, R., Kotini, S.B., Prabakar K. (2010), Resolving test interference in detection of endotoxin's in 3rd generation cephalosporin drug, *International Journal of PharmTech Research*, **2** (2), 1286-1290.
- Perdomo-Morales, R., Pardo-Ruiz, Z., Spreitzer, I., Lagarto, A., Montag, T. (2011), Monocyte Activation Test (MAT) reliably detects pyrogens in parenteral formulations of human serum albumin, *ALTEX*, **28** (**3**), 227-235.
- Perez, S.A., Colón, L.A. (1996), Determination of carbohydrates as their dansylhydrazine derivatives by capillary electrophoresis with laser-induced fluorescence detection, *Electrophoresis*, **17** (**2**), 352-358.
- Pfeiffer, R. (1892), Untersuchungen über das Choleragift, Zeitschrift für Hygiene und Infektionskrankheiten, 11 (1), 393-412.
- Pospísilová, M., Polásek, M., Safra, J., Petriska, I. (2007), Determination of mannitol and sorbitol in infusion solutions by capillary zone electrophoresis using on-column complexation with borate and indirect spectrophotometric detection, *Journal of Chromatography A*, **1143** (1-2), 258-263.
- Price, N.P.J. (2008), Permethylation linkage analysis techniques for residual carbohydrates, *Applied Biochemistry and Biotechnology*, **148** (1-3), 271-276.
- Price, T.H. (1976), Isolation of Shigella sonnei by fluid media, Journal of Hygiene (London), 77 (3), 341-348.
- Pruneda, R.C., Farmer III J.J. (1977), Bacteriophage typing of *Shigella sonnei*, *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, **5** (1), 66-74.
- Pupo, E., Phillips, N.J., Gibson, B.W., Apicella, M.A., Hardy, E. (2004), Matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionization-time of flight-mass spectrometry of lipopolysaccharide species separated by slab-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis: Highresolution separation and molecular weight determination of lipooligosaccharides from *Vibrio fischeri* strain *HMK*, *Electrophoresis*, **25** (14), 2156-2164.
- Rauss, K., Kétyi, I., Vertényi, A., Vörös, S. (1961), Studies on the nature of phase variation of Sh. sonnei, Acta Microbiologica Academiae Scientiarum Hungaricae, 8, 53-63.
- Reller, L.B. (1971), Colicin typing as an epidemiological tool in the investigation of outbreaks of *Shigella sonnei*, *Applied Microbiology*, **21** (1), 21-26.
- Ren, J., Fang, N., Wu, D. (2002), Inverse-flow derivatization for capillary electrophoresis of DNA fragments with laserinduced fluorescence detection, *Analytica Chimica Acta*, **470** (2), 129-135.

Reuss, F.F. (1809), Notice sur un nouvel effet de l'électricité galvanique, *Mémoires de la Societé Impériale des Naturalistes de Moscou*, **2**, 327-337.

Rietschel, E.T., Brade, H. (1992), A baktériumok endotoxinjai, Tudomány, 18-20.

- Rietschel, E.T., Brade, H., Holst, O., Brade, L., Muller-Loennies, S., Mamat, U., Zahringer, U., Beckmann, F., Seydel, U., Brandenburg, K., Ulmer, A.J., Mattern, T., Heine, H., Schletter, J., Loppnow, H., Schonbeck, U., Flad, H.D., Hauschildt, S., Schade, U.F., Di Padova, F., Kusumoto, S., Schumann, R.R. (1996), Bacterial endotoxin: Chemical constitution, biological recognition, host response, and immunological detoxification, *Current Topics in Microbiology and Immunology*, **216**, 39-81.
- Roberts, M.A., Zhong, H.J., Prodolliet, J., Goodall, D.M. (1998), Separation of high-molecular-mass carrageenan polysaccharides by capillary electrophoresis with laser-induced fluorescence detection, *Journal of Chromatography A*, 817 (1-2), 353–366.
- Romanowska, E., Mulczyk, M., (1968), Chemical studies on the specific fragment of *Shigella sonnei* phase II., *European Journal of Biochemistry*, **5** (1), 109-113.
- Romanowska, E., Reinhold, V. (1973), 2-amino-2-deoxyhexuronic acid: a constituent of *Shigella sonnei* phase I lipopolysaccharide, *European Journal of Biochemistry*, **36** (1), 160-166.
- Romaschin, A.D., Foster, D.M., Walker, P.M., Marshall, J.C. (1998a), Let the Cells Speak: neutrophils as biologic markers of the inflammatory response, *Sepsis*, **2** (2), 119-125.
- Romaschin, A.D., Harris, D.M., Ribeiro, M.B., Paice, J., Foster, D.M., Walker, P.M., Marshall, J.C. (1998b), A rapid assay of endotoxin in whole blood using autologous neutrophil dependent chemiluminescence, *Journal of Immunological Methods*, **212** (2), 169-185.
- Rovio, S., Yli-Kauhaluoma, J., Sirén, H. (2007), Determination of neutral carbohydrates by CZE with direct UV detection, *Electrophoresis*, 28 (17), 3129-3135.
- Ruiz-Calero, V., Puignou, L., Galceran, M.T. (2000), Analysis of glycosaminoglycan monosaccharides by capillary electrophoresis using indirect laser-induced fluorescence detection, *Journal of Chromatography A*, **873** (2), 269-282.
- Ruiz-Matute, A.I., Hernandez-Hernandez, O., Rodriguez-Sanchez, S., Sanz, M.L., Martinez-Castro, I. (2011), Derivatization of carbohydrates for GC and GC–MS analyses, *Journal of Chromatography B*, **879**, 1226-1240.
- Rund, S., Lindner, B., Brade, H., Holst, O. (1999), Structural analysis of the lipopolysaccharide from *Chlamydia trachomatis* serotype *L2*, *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, **274** (**24**), 16819-16824.
- Sang, F., Ren, J. (2006), Comparisons between capillary zone electrophoresis and real-time PCR for quantification of circulating DNA levels in human sera, *Journal of Chromatography B*, **838** (2), 122-128.
- Sansonetti, P.J., David, M., Toucas, M. (1980), Correlation between the loss of plasmid DNA and the transition from virulent phase I to non-virulent phase II in *Shigella sonnei*, *Comptes Rendus des Séances de l Académie des Sciences, Serie D, Sciences Naturelles*, **290** (13), 879-882.
- Sanz, M.L., Martinez-Castro, I. (2007), Recent developments in sample preparation for chromatographic analysis of carbohydrates, *Journal of Chromatography A*, **1153** (1-2), 74-89.
- Sarazin, C., Delaunay, N., Costanza, C., Eudes, V., Mallet, J.M., Gareil, P. (2011), New avenue for mid-UV-range detection of underivatized carbohydrates and amino acids in capillary electrophoresis, *Analytical Chemistry*, 83 (19), 7381-7387.
- Sawardeker, J.S., Sloneker, J.H., Jeanes, A. (1965), Quantitative determination of monosaccharides as their alditol acetates by gas liquid chromatography, *Analytical Chemistry*, **37** (**12**), 1602-1604.
Schawlow, A.L., Townes, C.H. (1958), Infrared and optical Masers, *Physical Review*, 112 (6), 1940-1949.

- Schindler, S., Fennrich, S., Crameri, R., Jungi, T.W., Montag, T., Hartung, T. (2007), Fever in the test tube Towards a human(e) pyrogen test, *ALTEX*, **24**, 60-62.
- Schneider, K.R., Strawn, L.K., Lampel, K.K., Warren, B.R. (2011), in Liu, D. (ed.), Molecular detection of human bacterial pathogens, CRC Press, pp 1049.
- Schromm, A.B., Brandenburg, K., Loppnow, H., Moran, A.P., Koch, M.H., Rietschel, E.T., Seydel, U. (2000), Biological activities of lipopolysaccharides are determined by the shape of their lipid A portion, *European Journal of Biochemistry*, 267, 2008-2013.
- Schwaiger, H., Oefner, P.J., Huber, C., Grill, E., Bonn, G.K. (1994), Capillary zone electrophoresis and micellar electrokinetic chromatography of 4-aminobenzonitrile carbohydrate derivatives, *Electrophoresis*, **15**, 941-952.
- Selye, H., Tuchweber, B., Bertok, L. (1966), Effect of lead acetate on the susceptibility of rats to bacterial endotoxins, *Journal of Bacteriology*, **91** (2), 884-890.
- Serény, B. (1961), Variants of S. sonnei phase I., Acta microbiologica Academiae Scientiarum Hungaricae, 8, 159-172.
- Seydel, U., Oikawa, M., Fukase, K., Kusumoto, S., Brandenburg, K. (2000b), Intrinsic conformation of lipid A is responsible for agonistic and antagonistic activity, *European Journal of Biochemistry*, **267** (10), 3032-3039.
- Seydel, U., Scheel, O., Muller, M., Brandenburg, K., Blunck, R. (2001), A K+ channel is involved in LPS signaling, *Journal* of Endotoxin Research, **7**, 243-247.
- Seydel, U., Schromm, A.B., Blunck, R., Brandenburg, K. (2000a), Chemical structure, molecular conformation, and bioactivity of endotoxins, *Chemical Immunology*, **74**, 5-24.
- Shiga, K. (1898), Ueber den Dysenterie bacillus (*Bacillus dysenteriae*), Zentralblatt für Bakteriologie, Parasitenkunde, Infektionskrankheiten und Hygiene, Abt I Org. 24, 817-824.
- Sjöberg, J., Adorjan, I., Rosenau, T., Kosma, P. (2004), An optimized CZE method for analysis of mono- and oligomeric aldose mixtures, *Carbohydrate Research*, **339**, 2037-2043.
- Slopek, S., Dublakowa, I., Kucharewicz-Krubkowska, A., Krzywy, T. (1973), Phage typing of *Shigella sonnei*, *Archivum Immunologiae et Therapiae Experimentalis*, **21** (**I**), 1-161.
- Smith, J.L. (1987), Shigella as a foodborne pathogen, Journal of Food Protection, 50, 788-801.
- Snyder, D.S., Brahamsha, B., Azadi, P., Palenik, B. (2009), Structure of compositionally simple lipopolysaccharide from marine *Synechococcus*, *Journal of Bacteriology*, **191** (**17**), 5499-5509.
- Sonne, C. (1915), Ueber die Bakteriologie der giftarmen Dysenteriebacillen (*Paradysenteriebacillen*), Zentralblatt für Bakteriologie, Parasitenkunde, Infektionskrankheiten und Hygiene, Abt I Org. 75, 408-456.
- Sørensen, J.F., Kragh, K.M., Sibbesen, O., Delcour, J., Goesaert, H., Svensson, B., Tahir, T.A., Brufau, J., Perez-Vendrell, A.M., Bellincampi, D., D'Ovidio, R., Camardella, L., Giovane, A., Bonnin, E., Juge, N. (2004), Potential role of glycosidase inhibitors in industrial biotechnological applications, *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta - Proteins and Proteomics*, 1696 (2), 275-287.
- Spiro, M.J., Spiro R.G. (1992), Monosaccharide determination of glycoconjugates by reverse-phase high-performance liquid chromatography of their phenylthiocarbamyl derivatives, *Analytical Biochemistry*, **204** (1), 152-157.
- Stahl, E. (ed.) (1962), Dünnschicht-chromatographie, Springer-Verlag, Berlin
- Stefansson, M., Novotny M. (1994), Separation of complex oligosaccharide mixtures by capillary electrophoresis in the open-tubular format, *Analytical Chemistry*, **66** (**7**), 1134-1140.

- Strain, S.M., Fesik, S.W., Armitage, I.M. (1983), Characterization of lipopolysaccharide from a heptoseless mutant of *Escherichia coli* by carbon 13 nuclear magnetic resonance, *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, **258** (5), 2906-2910.
- Sturiale, L., Garozzo, D., Silipo, A., Lanzetta, R., Parrilli, M., Molinaro, A. (2005), New conditions for matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionization mass spectrometry of native bacterial *R*-type lipopolysaccharides, *Rapid Communications in Mass Spectrometry*, **19** (**13**), 1829-1834.
- Subramaniyan, S., Prema, P. (2002), Biotechnology of microbial xylanases: enzymology, molecular biology, and application, *Critical Reviews in Biotechnology*, **22** (1), 33-64.
- Sun, Z., Song, C., Xia, L., Wang, X., Suo, Y., You, J. (2010), Comprehensive comparisons between 1-phenyl-3-methyl-5pyrazolones, 1-(4-methoxyphenyl)-3-methyl-5-pyrazolones and 1-(2-naphthyl)-3-methyl-5-pyrazolones as labeling reagents used in LC-DAD-ESI-MS-MS analysis of neutral aldoses and uronic acids, *Chromatographia*, **71** (9-10), 789-797.
- Suzuki, S., Honda, S., (2001), Analysis of carbohydrates by capillary electrochromatography, *Chromatography*, 22, 171-180.
- Swann, L.M., Forbes, S.L., Lewis, S.W. (2010), A capillary electrophoresis method for the determination of selected biogenic amines and amino acids in mammalian decomposition fluid, *Talanta*, **81** (**4-5**), 1697-1702.
- Szeliga, J., Jackowski, M., Kłodzińska, E., Buszewski, B., Kupczyk, W. (2011), Clinical application of a rapid microbiological test based on capillary zone electrophoresis to assess local skin infection, *BioMedCentral Research Notes*, 4: 467, 1-13.
- Szturm-Rubinstein, S. (1968), Determination of biotype, phage type, and colicinogen character of *Shigella sonnei*, and its epidemiologic importance, *Archivum Immunologiae et Therapiae Experimentalis*, **16** (**3**), 421-428.
- Takegawa, Y., Deguchi, K., Keira, T., Ito, H., Nakagawa, H., Nishimura, S.-I. (2006), Separation of isomeric 2aminopyridine derivatized *N*-glycans and *N*-glycopeptides of human serum immunoglobulin G by using a zwitterionic type of hydrophilic-interaction chromatography, *Journal of Chromatography A*, **1113** (1-2), 177-181.
- Tanaka, K., Waki, H., Ido, Y., Akita, S., Yoshida, Y., Yoshida, T. (1988), Protein and polymer analyses up to m/z 100 000 by laser ionization time-of flight mass spectrometry, *Rapid Communications in Mass Spectrometry*, **2** (20), 151-153.
- Taylor, D.N., Bodhidatta, L., Echeverria, P. (1991), Epidemiologic aspects of Shigellosis and other causes of dysentery in Thailand, *Reviews of Infectious Diseases*, 13 (Suppl 4), S226-230.
- Taylor, N. (2000), LASER: The inventor, the Nobel laureate, and the thirty-year patent war, Simon & Schuster Adult Publishing Group, NewYork, pp 66-70.
- Terabe, S., Otsuka, K., Ichikawa, K., Tsuchiya, A., Ando, T. (1984), Electrokinetic separations with micellar solutions and open-tubular capillaries, *Analytical Chemistry*, **56** (1), 111-113.
- Thérisod, H., Labas, V., Caroff, M. (2001), Direct microextraction and analysis of rough-type lipopolysaccharides by combined thin-layer chromatography and MALDI mass spectrometry, *Analytical Chemistry*, **73** (16), 3804-3807.
- Thomas, C.J., Kapoor, M., Sharma, S., Bausinger, H., Zyilan, U., Lipsker, D., Hanau, D., Surolia, A. (2002), Evidence of trimolecular complex involving LPS, LPS binding protein and soluble CD14 as an effector of LPS response, *FEBS Letters*, 531, 184-188.
- Tiselius, A.W.K. (1930), The moving boundary method of studying the electrophoreses of proteins, *Acta Universitatis* Upsaliensis, Nova acta Regiae Societatis Scientiarum Upsaliensis, Ser. IV:A, 7 (4)

Trevelyan, W. E., Procter, D. P., Harrison, J. S. (1950), Detection of sugars on paper chromatograms, Nature, 166, 444-445.

Tsai, C.M., Frasch, C.E. (1982) , A sensitive silver stain for detecting lipopolysaccharides in polyacrylamide gels, *Analytical Biochemistry*, **119**, 115-119.

- Tseng, H.-M., Gattolin, S., Pritchard, J., Newbury, H.J., Barrett, D.A. (2009), Analysis of mono-, di- and oligosaccharidesby CE using a two-stage derivatizationmethod and LIF detection, *Electrophoresis*, **30** (**8**), 1399-1405.
- Udeh, P.J. (2004), A guide to healthy drinking water: All you need to know about the water you drink, iUniverse Inc., Lincoln, USA, p. 54.
- United States Pharmacopeial Convention, Inc. (1980) United States Pharmacopeia, United States Pharmacopeia XX, Rockville, Md., p. 902-903.
- U.S. Food and Drug Administration (1987), Guideline on validation of the *Limulus* Amebocyte Lysate test as an end-product endotoxin test for human and animal parenteral drugs, biological products, and medical devices, Rockville, MD, USA 20857 pp 1–30.
- United States Pharmacopeia 30 National Formulary 25. Chapter 85: Bacterial endotoxins test. (2007)
- Vaher, M., Koel, M., Kazarjan, J., Kaljurand, M. (2011), Capillary electrophoretic analysis of neutral carbohydrates using ionic liquids as background electrolytes, *Electrophoresis*, **32** (9), 1068-1073.
- Vestal, M.L., Juhász, P., Martin, S.A. (1995), Delayed extraction matrix-assisted laser desorption time-of-flight mass spectrometry, *Rapid Communications in Mass Spectrometry*, **9**, 1044-1050.
- Vinogradov, E. (2002), Structure of the O-specific polysaccharide chain of the lipopolysaccharide of *Bordetella hinzii*, *Carbohydrate Research*, **337** (10), 961-963.
- Wachsmuth, K., Morris, G.K. (1989), *Shigella* in foodborne bacterial pathogens (Doyle, M.P. Ed.), Marcel Dekker, New York, pp. 447–462.
- Wang, C.Y., Hsieh, Y.Z. (2002), Analysis of chitin oligosaccharides by capillary electrophoresis with laser-induced fluorescence, *Journal of Chromatography A*, **979** (1-2), 431–438.
- Wang, W., Zhou, L., Wang, S., Luo, Z., Hu, Z. (2008), Rapid and simple determination of adenine and guanine in DNA extract by micellar electrokinetic chromatography with indirect laser-induced fluorescence detection, *Talanta*, **74** (4), 1050-1055.
- Warren, C.R., Adams, M.A. (2004), Capillary electrophoresis of the major anions and cations in leaf extracts of woody species, *Phytochemical Analysis*, **15**, 407-413.
- Warren, C.R. (2008), Rapid and sensitive quantification of amino acids in soil extracts by capillary electrophoresis with laser-induced fluorescence, *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, **40** (**4**), 916-923.
- Watson, D.W., Kim, Y.B. (1963), Modification of host responses to bacterial endotoxins. I. Specificity of pyrogenic tolerance and the role of hypersensitivity in pyrogenicity, lethality, and skin reactivity, *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, **118**, 425-446.
- Wei, J., Gu, X., Wang, Y., Wu, Y., Yan, C. (2011), Two -dimensional separation system by on-line hyphenation of capillary isoelectric focusing with pressurized capillary electrochromatography for peptide and protein mapping, *Electrophoresis*, **32(2)**, 230-237.
- Westphal, O., Jann, K. (1965), Bacterial lipopolysaccharides: extraction with phenol-water and further applications of the procedure, *Methods in Carbohydrate Chemistry*, **5**, 83-91.
- Whittal, R.M., Li, L. (1995), High-resolution matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionization in a linear time-of-flight mass spectrometer, *Analytical Chemistry*, **67** (13), 1950-1954.
- Wilkinson, S.G. (1996), Bacterial lipopolysaccharides themes and variations, Progress in Lipid Research, 35, 283-343.
- World Health Organization (1987), Development of vaccines against shigellosis: memorandum from a WHO meeting, Bulletin of the World Health Organization, 65 (1), 17-25.

- Wu, F.M., Doyle M.P., Beuchat L.R., Wells J.G., Mintz E.D., Swaminathan B. (2000), Fate of *Shigella sonnei* on parsley and methods of disinfection, *Journal of Food Protection*, 63 (5), 568-572.
- Yang, F., Yang, J., Zhang, X., Chen, L., Jiang, Y., Yan, Y., Tang, X., Wang, J., Xiong, Z., Dong, J., Xue, Y., Zhu, Y., Xu, X., Sun, L., Chen, S., Nie, H., Peng, J., Xu, J., Wang, Y., Yuan, Z., Wen, Y., Yao, Z., Shen, Y., Qiang, B., Hou, Y., Yu, J., Jin, Q. (2005), Genome dynamics and diversity of *Shigella* species, the etiologic agents of bacillary dysentery, *Nucleic Acids Research*, 33 (19), 6445-6458.
- Yang, Z., Li, Z., Zhu, J., Wang, Q., He, P., Fang, Y. (2010), Use of different buffers for detection and separation in determination of physio-active components in oolong tea infusion by CZE with amperometric detection, *Journal of Separation Science*, 33 (9), 1312-1318.
- York, W.S., Darvill, A.G., McNeil, M., Albersheim, P. (1985), 3-desoxy-D-manno-2-octulosonic acid (KDO) is a component of rhamnogalacturonan II, a pectic polysaccharide in the primary cell walls of plants, *Carbohydrate Research*, **138**, 109-126.
- Yu, C.-J., Chang, H.-C., Tseng, W.-L. (2008), On-line concentration of proteins by SDS-CGE with LIF detection, *Electrophoresis*, **29**, 483–490.
- Zanetta, J.P., Breckenridge, W.C., Vincendon G. (1972), Analysis of monosaccharides by gas-liquid chromatography of the o-methyl glycosides as trifluoroacetate derivatives : Application to glycoproteins and glycolipids, *Journal of Chromatography A*, **69** (2), 291-304.
- Zanetta, J.P., Timmerman, P., Leroy Y. (1999), Gas-liquid chromatography of the heptafluorobutyrate derivatives of the Omethyl-glycosides on capillary columns: a method for the quantitative determination of the monosaccharide composition of glycoproteins and glycolipids, *Glycobiology*, **9** (**3**), 255-266.
- Zhang, G., Lampel, K.A. (2010), Comparison of chromogenic Biolog Rainbow agar Shigella/Aeromonas with xylose lysine desoxycholate agar for isolation and detection of Shigella spp. from foods, Journal of Food Protection, 73 (8), 1458-1465.
- Zhang, M., Melouk, H.A., Chenault, K., Rassi, Z.E. (2001), Determination of cellular carbohydrates in peanut fungal pathogens and baker's yeast by capillary electrophoresis and electrochromatography, *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, **49** (11), 5265-5269.
- Zhang, R.-E., Cao, Y.-L., Hearn, M.W. (1991), Synthesis and application of Fmoc-hydrazine for the quantitative determination of saccharides by reversed-phase high-performance liquid chromatography in the low and subpicomole range, *Analytical Biochemistry*, **195** (1), 160-167.
- Zhang, W., He, H., Zhang, X. (2007), Determination of neutral sugars in soil by capillary gas chromatography after derivatization to aldononitrile acetates, *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, **39** (**10**), 2665-2669.
- Zhao, J.Y., Diedrich, P., Zhang, Y.N., Hindsgaul, O., Dovichi, N.J. (1994), Separation of aminated monosaccharides by capillary zone electrophoresis with laser-induced fluorescence detection, *Journal of Chromatography B-Biomedical Applications*, 657, 307-313.

# LIST OF PUBLICATIONS

### Publications related to the thesis

**Bui, A.**, Kocsis, B., and Kilár, F. (2008), Methodology to label mixed carbohydrate components by APTS, *Journal of Biochemical and Biophysical Methods*, **70** (6), 1313-1316.

**Bui, A**., Kilár, A., Dörnyei, Á., Poór, V., Kovács, K., Kocsis, B., Kilár, F. (2011), Carbohydrate composition of endotoxins from R-type isogenic mutants of Shigella sonnei studied by capillary electrophoresis and GC-MS, *Croatica Chemica Acta*, **84** (**3**), 393-398.

Kilár, A., Dörnyei, Á., **Bui, A**,. Szabó, Z., Kocsis, B. and Kilár, F. (2011), Structural variability of endotoxins from R-type isogenic mutants of Shigella sonnei, *Journal of Mass Spectrometry*, **46** (1), 61-70.

#### **Presentations related to the thesis**

Kilár, F., **Bui, A.**, Kilár, A., Kocsis, B., Szabó, Z., Farkas, V.: Study of structure-function relationship in endotoxin analysis by microchips and mass spectrometry 22<sup>nd</sup> International Symposium on Microscale Bioseparations, MSB2008 March 9-13 Berlin, Germany 2008

Kilár, F. **Bui, A.**, Kilár, A., Kocsis, B., Szabó, Z., Farkas, V.: Analysis of endotoxins by mass spectrometry and microchips 8<sup>th</sup> Csaba Horváth Medal Award Symposium April 14-15 Innsbruck, Austria 2008

Kilár, F., **Bui, A.**, Farkas, V., Kilár, A., Kocsis, B., Szabó, Z.: The "world" of endotoxins in separation science *Analysdagarna* June 16-18 Göteborg, Sweden 2008

Kilár, A., **Bui, A.**, Szabó, Z., Dörnyei, Á., Kocsis, B., Kilár, F.: Analysis of endotoxin structures by MALDI-MS *XIV. Nemzetközi Vegyészkonferencia* November 13-15 Kolozsvár, Romania 2008

### Posters related to the thesis

**Bui, A.**, Péterfi, Z., Kustos, I., Kocsis, B., Kilar, F.: Optimization of experimental conditions in the analysis of APTS-labelled hydrolyzed endotoxins by capillary electrophoresis 14<sup>th</sup> International Symposium on Capillary Electroseparation Techniques, ITP 2004 September 12-15 Rome, Italy 2004

**Bui, A.**, Bufa, A., Poór, V., Kocsis, B., Kilár, F.: Examination of sugar content of bacterial endotoxins by GC-MS 7<sup>th</sup> International Symposium and Summer School on Bioanalysis June 10-15 Pécs, Hungary 2007

**Bui, A.**, Bufa, A., Poór, V., Kocsis, B., Kilár, F.: Examination of sugar content of bacterial endotoxins by GC-MS 7<sup>th</sup> Balaton Symposium on High-Performance Separation Methods September 5-7 Siófok, Hungary 2007

**Bui, A.**, Kocsis, B., Kilár, F.: Profiling of bacterial endotoxins by capillary electrophoresis 22<sup>nd</sup> International Symposium on Microscale Bioseparations, MSB2008 March 9-13 Berlin, Germany 2008

Dörnyei, Á., Kilár, A., **Bui, A.**, Szabó, Z., Kocsis, B., Kilár, F.: Mass spectrometric analyses of lipopolysaccharides extracted from *Shigella sonnei* rough-type mutant strains 6<sup>th</sup> International Interdisciplinary Meeting on Bioanalysis, CECE 2009 November 5-8 Pécs, Hungary 2009

Dörnyei, Á., Kilár, A., **Bui, A.**, Szabó, Z., Kocsis, B., Kilár, F.: Mass spectrometric analyses of bacterial lipopolysaccharides 25<sup>th</sup> International Symposium on Microscale BioSeparations, MSB 2010 March 21-25 Prague, Czech Republic 2010

# **Other posters**

Konecsni., T., Pogány., Á., **Bui, A.**, Dergez, T., Kilár, F.: Hormon mRNS-ek térbeli elrendeződése egy emberi hipofizisben Home Scientific Student Conference March 9-10 Pécs, Hungary 2000

Dergez, T., Konecsni, T., Pogány, Á., **Bui, A.**, Szókisboris, P., Szécsényi, M., Funa, K., Muhr, C., Kilár, F.: Spatial distribution of hormon mRNAs in a pituitary gland 6<sup>th</sup> Symposium on Instrumental Analysis June 24-27 Graz, Austria 2001

**Bui, A.**, Réglier, M., Tron, T., Kilár, F.: Production of different laccase isoforms for electrophoretic separation  $\delta^{th}$  Symposium on Instrumental Analysis September 25-28 Graz, Austria 2005

**Bui, A.**, Réglier, M., Tron, T., Kilár, F.: Production of different laccase isoforms for electrophoretic separation *Club Métalloprotéines et Modèles* October 2-5 Carry-le-Rouet, France 2005

**Bui, A.**, Tron, T., Kilár, F.: Study of Trametes C30 laccase isoforms *XIVème Colloque De L'Ecole Doctorale SVS* June 8-9 Marseille, France 2006

**Bui, A.**, Tron, T., Kilár, F.: Separation of laccase isoforms from Trametes C30 by capillary electrophoresis 7<sup>th</sup> International Symposium and Summer School on Bioanalysis June 10-15 Pécs, Hungary 2007

**Bui, A.**, Tron, T., Kilár, F.: Separation of laccase isoforms from Trametes C30 by capillary electrophoresis 7<sup>th</sup> Balaton Symposium on High-Performance Separation Methods September 5-7 Siófok, Hungary 2007